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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning. My

          3  name is Kendall Stewart, and I am the Chair of the

          4  Immigration Committee.

          5                 I would like to acknowledge the fact

          6  that my colleagues, some of them are across the

          7  street, and you know this is a budget time, we have

          8  to try to get our things together, and some of them

          9  will be joining us later.

         10                 Today we will be conducting an

         11  oversight hearing to discuss strategies to protect

         12  children who are in the New York City foster care

         13  and juvenile court system who qualify for special

         14  immigrant juvenile status.

         15                 For those who might not know, special

         16  immigrant juvenile status is the federal law that

         17  allows certain documented and undocumented children,

         18  who are in the long-term foster care, due to abuse,

         19  neglect, abandonment or guardianship obtain lawful

         20  immigrant status.

         21                 It is important to understand that

         22  once a child leaves, or ages out of the system, the

         23  ability to achieve independent living can be

         24  severely curtailed, the immigration status problems.

         25                 The SIJS, which is, again, the
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          2  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status application, will

          3  enable children who are neither US citizens, nor

          4  lawful permanent residents, the opportunity to

          5  become lawful permanent residents before being

          6  released.

          7                 For many children, filing for special

          8  immigrant juvenile status, while in the State's

          9  custody will be their only practical opportunity to

         10  become lawful permanent residents.

         11                 Without the status adjustment, these

         12  children may not be able to obtain social security

         13  numbers, live permanently in the United States or

         14  even obtain legal employment or travel freely or

         15  receive financial aid for school or access most

         16  forms of public benefits.

         17                 Although there have been many

         18  positive developments in the effort to improve

         19  protection for this group of children, such as the

         20  Administration for Children's Services, Subcommittee

         21  on Immigration and Language Issues, which develop

         22  the immigration and language guidelines for child

         23  welfare staff, we need to make sure that there isn't

         24  more we can do to ensure this population is timely

         25  identified and assisted.
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          2                 Identifying the immigration status of

          3  children in foster care, kinship care or

          4  guardianship is necessary and we will like to see

          5  that it remains a routine trying part of permanency

          6  planning.

          7                 We will hear testimony from the

          8  Administration for Children's Services, the New York

          9  Office of Children and Family Services,

         10  organizations that have devoted their time for

         11  helping this vulnerable population and interested

         12  members of the public.

         13                 First I would like to identify or

         14  recognize my colleagues who have just joined us,

         15  Council Member Nelson and Council Member

         16  Mark-Viverito.

         17                 So, we will first hear from the

         18  Administration, ACS. If you please, you can identify

         19  yourself and then we can get right into the

         20  question, the question of what are we doing for our

         21  youngsters.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Good

         23  morning, Chair Stewart and members of the Council.

         24  We appreciate the opportunity to come before you

         25  today and speak about an issue that is clearly very
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          2  important to us and critical to our work. We take

          3  this opportunity to brief you on Children's Services

          4  work with children in foster care who are

          5  undocumented immigrants, and our efforts at

          6  Children's Services to help these youth by

          7  facilitating their applications for special

          8  immigrant juvenile status.

          9                 My name is Ronald Richter. I am the

         10  Deputy Commissioner for --

         11                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Please use

         12  that mic?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: You mean

         14  use this mike?

         15                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Yes.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, because

         18  this has to be recorded and transcribed, could you

         19  start over?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I sure

         21  can.

         22                 Good morning, Chair Stewart and

         23  members of the Council. We appreciate the

         24  opportunity this morning to speak with you on behalf

         25  of the Administration for Children's Services about
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          2  our important work around special immigrant juvenile

          3  status.

          4                 My name is Ronald Richter. I am the

          5  Deputy Commissioner for Family Court Legal Services

          6  at Children's Services.

          7                 Children's Services, as you know, is

          8  the City's first free-standing agency devoted solely

          9  to serving children and their families. What we

         10  intend to do this morning is brief you on our work

         11  related to this issue, and obviously then take your

         12  questions.

         13                 Our mission at Children's Services is

         14  to ensure the safety, permanency and well-being of

         15  New York City's children by investigating

         16  allegations of abuse and neglect, supporting high

         17  quality foster care and preventive services through

         18  our network of contracted providers, and providing

         19  an array of child care and HeadStart services to

         20  young children in our communities.

         21                 Our efforts on behalf of New York

         22  City's children include supporting children in

         23  foster care who are eligible for citizenship,

         24  through the special immigrant juvenile status

         25  process.
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          2                 Children's Services provides welfare

          3  services to all families and children residing in

          4  New York City, regardless of their immigration

          5  status.

          6                 In the course of providing child

          7  welfare services, some children placed into foster

          8  care by Children's Services are undocumented

          9  immigrants. Some of these youth may be eligible for

         10  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status, also known as

         11  SIJS, a statutory provision included in the Federal

         12  Immigration Act of 1990, which enables undocumented

         13  young people in long-term foster care to become

         14  permanent residents, and to obtain Green Cards.

         15                 Long-term foster care is the term

         16  used for youth who are in our care and for whom

         17  reunification with their parent is not a realistic

         18  plan with a foreseeable future.

         19                 In order for a youth to be eligible

         20  for Special and Juvenile Status, a young person must

         21  be unmarried and under 21 years old, placed in

         22  foster care prior to his or her birthday due to

         23  abuse, neglect or abandonment, or as determined by a

         24  Family Court Judge, be in foster care at the time

         25  that the SIJS application is filed, and remain in
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          2  care throughout the process of obtaining Special

          3  Immigrant Juvenile Status, and receive a declaration

          4  from a Family Court Judge, a signed order, that it

          5  is not in the applicant's best interest to return to

          6  his or her country of origin.

          7                 Helping foster children obtain this

          8  status is crucial to their ability to work, attend

          9  school and remain in the United States once they

         10  leave the foster care system, as Chair Stewart

         11  pointed out.

         12                 As such, Children's Services

         13  recognizes that we have a special responsibility to

         14  aid foster children in attaining the status.

         15                 When Children's Services confirms

         16  that a young person in foster care is undocumented

         17  and may be SIJS eligible, our case managers work in

         18  conjunction with our foster care agencies and legal

         19  staff to ensure the youth is promptly referred to

         20  independent counsel to assess the child's

         21  eligibility for SIJS, and, if appropriate, to begin

         22  their SIJS application.

         23                 We work closely with a network of

         24  public service and probono counsel dedicated to

         25  representing foster children, including The Legal
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          2  Aid Society's Immigration Law Project and its pro

          3  bono project, Lawyers For Children, the Door Legal

          4  Services, the New York Association for New

          5  Americans, Catholic Migration Services and Columbia

          6  Law School's Morningside Heights Legal Services

          7  Clinic. All of these organizations have expertise in

          8  SIJS and can provide the legal representation needed

          9  to obtain SIJS status on behalf of these youth.

         10                 To support this application process,

         11  Children's Services reimburses foster care agencies

         12  for all fees associated with the SIJS process, which

         13  may exceed $1,000 per child.

         14                 We also reimburse foster care

         15  agencies for the cost of legal services provided by

         16  the above agencies. In 2005 Children's Services

         17  increased the Legal Services reimbursement rate to

         18  advocates and lawyers who handle these cases from

         19  $400 per case to $700, a 75 percent increase, to

         20  ensure that Legal Services providers can afford to

         21  continue to do this critical work.

         22                 In addition, Children's Services

         23  offers training to child welfare staff on

         24  immigration issues, including a component on SIJS

         25  process.
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          2                 SIJS training has also been provided

          3  at our quarterly meetings with the foster care

          4  directors and for all new lawyers in our Division of

          5  Family Court Legal Services.

          6                 Children's Services also has the

          7  senior supervising attorney who is available for

          8  consultation in these cases. He is with us today.

          9  His name is Harry Gelb.

         10                 To further institutionalize our work,

         11  Children's Services named Mark Lewis, who is on my

         12  left, the newly-created post of Director of

         13  Immigration Services in August of 2005.

         14                 Mark Lewis is a veteran in the

         15  immigration policy advisory, having held senior

         16  level positions at the New York Immigration

         17  Coalition, and the New York State Department of

         18  Social Services.

         19                 Through the creation of this office,

         20  Children's Services has intensified its efforts to

         21  identify and assist undocumented youth who may be

         22  eligible for SIJS status.

         23                 This office conducts trainings upon

         24  request from any advocacy or provider group, and

         25  made recent presentations to the New York City
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          2  Social Work Education Consortium, the Coalition for

          3  Asian American Children and Families, and African

          4  and Muslim organizations, including African Services

          5  Committee, Sauti Yetu Center for African Women and

          6  Turning Point for Women and Families.

          7                 Finally, Children's Services has met

          8  with the federal Immigration and Naturalization

          9  Service to address the backlog of SIJS applicants,

         10  and set up a mechanism to fast track cases for old

         11  youth who are at risk of aging out of foster care

         12  before the SIJS process is completed.

         13                 Each of these important reforms were

         14  initiated by the Administration for Children's

         15  Services. While these investments have been

         16  significant, there is always more that can be done.

         17                 Identifying youth who may be

         18  undocumented and challenged for several reasons,

         19  most commonly because many undocumented immigrants

         20  believe that disclosing their status voluntarily can

         21  result in their deportation by the United States

         22  Immigration and Customs Enforcement Service.

         23                 They are therefore reluctant to step

         24  forward to apply for services that they may need.

         25                 In addition, undocumented children in
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          2  foster care may not know their immigration status,

          3  as they may have been brought to the United States

          4  at an early age.

          5                 Due to confidentiality concerns and

          6  consistent with Executive Order 41, Children's

          7  Services does not maintain a database of

          8  undocumented children in foster care. However,

          9  Children's Services did conduct a survey of Legal

         10  Service providers in June of 2005 to identify the

         11  number of foster children receiving Legal Services

         12  to obtain SIJS status.

         13                 The survey identified approximately

         14  135 foster children receiving SIJS Legal Services,

         15  that was in June of 2005.

         16                 Children's Services also identified

         17  another 100 foster children who were potentially

         18  eligible for SIJS through an internal data review.

         19                 We are working with Legal Aid and

         20  Voices for Youth, to determine if any of these

         21  children are eligible for SIJS.

         22                 Children's Services is in the process

         23  of assessing other approaches to identifying foster

         24  care children who may be eligible for SIJS. For

         25  example, Children's Services will consider whether
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          2  to require our foster care agencies to obtain Social

          3  Security cards for all the youth in their care with

          4  a goal of independent living beginning at age 14.

          5                 We believe that this step may be an

          6  important mechanism for identifying any youth not

          7  captured through the case planning process and for

          8  ensuring their access through the SIJS process.

          9                 Children's Services has worked

         10  diligently for the past several years to strengthen

         11  our ability to serve immigrant communities in New

         12  York City.

         13                 We convene a group of immigrant

         14  advocates bimonthly, the Children's Services

         15  Immigration Advisory Board and developed guidelines

         16  for child welfare staff on immigration issues.

         17                 These guidelines, which we had

         18  published in a booklet entitled Immigration and

         19  Language Guidelines for Child Welfare Staff, have

         20  been nationally recognized as a best practices

         21  model, the booklet is being replicated in other

         22  states.

         23                 Children's Services has expanded and

         24  improved our language assistance services for

         25  limited English-speaking clients. To make it easier
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          2  for our child protective workers to access

          3  interpreter services when they are doing

          4  investigations, we have recently implemented a new

          5  telephonic interpretation system. Child protective

          6  workers have been provided with cell phones, and are

          7  able to access telephonic interpreters within

          8  minutes.

          9                 This new system supplements our

         10  in-person interpreter contract and our efforts to

         11  translate key notices and documents to the primary

         12  languages spoken by ACS clients.

         13                 Children's Services is also

         14  recruiting bilingual child protective workers to

         15  help serve New York's diverse communities.

         16                 Children's Services work with

         17  immigrant children and family is governed by

         18  Executive Order No. 41. As the Committee is aware,

         19  Executive Order 41 establishes the provision of City

         20  services does not require proof of immigration

         21  status.

         22                 In accordance with this Executive

         23  Order, Children's Services provides Child Welfare

         24  Services irrespective of immigration status.

         25  Children's Services does, however, request

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  citizenship information, which is required to

          3  determine eligibility for federal financial

          4  reimbursement through Title IV-E funding, the major

          5  source of federal payment for foster care services

          6  provided in New York City.

          7                 This request is consistent with

          8  Executive Order No. 41, which permits City agencies

          9  to inquire about immigration status for federal

         10  reimbursement purposes.

         11                 Although we do request this

         12  information, Children's Services does not disclose

         13  it unless:

         14                 - disclosure is authorized in writing

         15  by the individual about whom the information

         16  pertains. In the case of minors, parents or

         17  guardians are required to give written consent.

         18                 - Children's Services is required to

         19  disclose under the law.

         20                 - disclosure is to another City

         21  officer or agency employee who is similarly bound to

         22  protect the confidentiality of the information and

         23  disclosure is required in order for Children's

         24  Services to fulfill its mandate; or

         25                 - the individual to which the
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          2  information pertains is suspected of illegal

          3  activity or the disclosure of the information is

          4  necessary to apprehend the person engaging in

          5  illegal activity or disclosure is necessary to

          6  further an investigation of potential terrorist

          7  activity.

          8                 I hope that it is clear from our

          9  testimony today that Children's Services is

         10  genuinely committed to working with our staff,

         11  provider agencies and immigration advocates to

         12  ensure that undocumented youth in our care receive

         13  all the services for which they are eligible.

         14                 I thank you for allowing us to

         15  discuss this topic with you this morning, and we

         16  welcome your questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I take it that

         18  your colleague --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Mr.

         20  Lewis.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Mr. Lewis is

         22  not going to testify. He's just here to answer

         23  questions?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: That is

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, first of

          3  all, I have a few questions that I would like to

          4  raise at this time.

          5                 You know, you said due to

          6  confidentiality, that concerns and consistent with

          7  the Executive Order 41, Children's Services does not

          8  maintain a database of undocumented children in

          9  foster care, but what I would like to know is that,

         10  if you don't keep a record, is there a questionnaire

         11  or something else is being done to identify these

         12  children as you take them in, as you move them from

         13  place to place, as you find homes for them, is there

         14  question there to know that this child is

         15  undocumented?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: We train

         17  our child protective services workers and our

         18  attorneys to ensure that an inquiry is being made

         19  with respect to a youth's immigration status.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: How many

         21  children are now in custody, in your custody, in

         22  terms of ACS? How many children there that you

         23  consider in terms of putting them into foster care

         24  and all that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Sir,

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  right now there are approximately 17,500 children in

          3  the Commissioner's care. Children in foster care.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. And only,

          5  you said only 35. You mentioned the figure, I think

          6  it's 135 or 35. 135 you say, approximately 135

          7  foster care children receiving Legal Services.

          8  That's what you say presently now?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: In June

         10  of 2005 we worked with organizations that represent

         11  children in SIJS cases, and we believe at that time

         12  there were 135.

         13                 We then made an effort to identify

         14  whether there were additional children in our care

         15  who may be eligible and we thought that number was

         16  approximately 100 additional children, and we have

         17  been working with organizations to try to see

         18  whether our information is accurate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, what you

         20  just said, that in process with the different

         21  agencies, 135, you have just identified

         22  approximately another 100. That's what you are

         23  saying?

         24                 MR. LEWIS: Yes. If I can add? We

         25  identified 100 children who may be undocumented.
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          2  We've been working to review their cases to see if

          3  they are in fact undocumented. So, the first run,

          4  the first information that we have is about 15 of

          5  those kids were undocumented and are being referred

          6  to our Legal Services colleagues for services.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: When was that

          8  done?

          9                 MR. LEWIS: That's been going on for

         10  the last couple of months.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, in essence

         12  what you're saying, there's no real challenge for

         13  you to make it your duty to investigate at the

         14  beginning, so that you don't wait until the child

         15  has been, I wouldn't use the term lost, but been in

         16  the system for awhile, and this may not be a concern

         17  at that time.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So, when

         19  children come into care, Chair Stewart, our initial

         20  obligation is to ensure that the child is safe and

         21  to ensure that the child is placed in an appropriate

         22  foster home, if they're coming into foster care, and

         23  that clearly is our initial priority.

         24                 At the same time, we have an

         25  obligation to ensure citizenship and ask questions
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          2  around citizenship for purposes of federal IV-E

          3  reimbursement, as I referenced.

          4                 In the process we know whether a

          5  child, or should know whether a child is a citizen

          6  of the United States, and if they're not, then we

          7  want to ensure that we note that.

          8                 I want to make clear, though, that a

          9  child upon entering foster care is not SIJS

         10  eligible. At the time that a child comes into care,

         11  the goal is almost always return to parent.

         12                 And, so, our efforts initially when a

         13  child enters foster care, is to exercise all of the

         14  efforts we can to ensure that a child is reunified

         15  with their parent.

         16                 At some point, it becomes apparent

         17  that a child qualifies for long-term foster care,

         18  that as you referenced, their permanency goal is no

         19  longer reunification but becomes something else,

         20  including adoption, for example.

         21                 With those kids, once they have

         22  gotten to the point of being in long term foster

         23  care, it then becomes critical that we assess

         24  whether it's appropriate to make a SIJS application

         25  on their behalf.
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          2                 But when children enter care, they

          3  would not be SIJS eligible, they are well over 95

          4  percent of them have a goal of reunification.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, but my

          6  issue here is the fact that you have identified 100

          7  at this stage, that nothing was done.

          8                 My point is basically that if they

          9  are considered long term foster care, at that time

         10  that you consider that, you need to at least

         11  identify them and start the process.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I agree

         13  with you. And we are making every effort, as Mr.

         14  Lewis described, to try to do that on an ongoing

         15  basis.

         16                 I hope we didn't suggest that these

         17  100 youth were languishing in care and were not

         18  being attended to. In fact, that's quite the

         19  contrary. We have taken a proactive step to try to

         20  identify youth in long-term care foster care who we

         21  believe may be eligible for this status and are

         22  working with the advocate community to ensure that

         23  they get legal representation.

         24                 So, that's an active step on our

         25  part.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes. But what

          3  I'm trying to get, sir, is basically the fact that

          4  135 is in that process right now.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: An

          6  additional 100 is in that process. The 135 were

          7  identified in June of 2005.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The 100 you're

          9  speaking about, has the process started with them

         10  yet?

         11                 MR. LEWIS: The process has started

         12  for those kids that are actually undocumented are

         13  SIJS eligible. Out of the hundred, there's another

         14  20 that we're still working with the foster care

         15  agencies to make sure that they are SIJS eligible,

         16  but only 15 were actually undocumented, another 20

         17  or so were already being served by some of the

         18  lawyers. So, that's part of the issue, that there

         19  will be kids that may appear to be undocumented or

         20  SIJS eligible, but not necessarily always SIJS

         21  eligible.

         22                 The other thing I wanted to add was,

         23  every child that's in foster care, there's a service

         24  plan created for that child with the foster care

         25  agencies. Part of that assessment and part of that
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          2  service plan is essential data relating -- I'm just

          3  reading from the regs in terms of what's part of

          4  that, that for each child there is essential data

          5  relating to identification and history of the child

          6  and family members, and a summary which documents

          7  the involvement of the parents or guardians.

          8                 So, there is, throughout the whole

          9  process of working with the kids and the child

         10  welfare system, there are different points in terms

         11  of where we are gathering information and trying to

         12  identify if they are undocumented and can be served

         13  through the SIJS process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At the time when

         15  we considered children are being aged out of the

         16  system, prior to that, like just before that, before

         17  their time is expired, is there any last-minute

         18  check to make sure that these children are not

         19  being, you know, getting into a system whereby there

         20  is no return?

         21                 MR. LEWIS: There is in the sense that

         22  we are trying to make sure that every child who has

         23  a goal of independent living, before they leave

         24  foster care, they have all of the necessary

         25  documents that they need to survive in the real
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          2  world. That includes birth certificates. It includes

          3  Social Security numbers. So, as Mr. Richter

          4  testified, we're looking at requiring that a Social

          5  Security card be provided for every child before

          6  they leave foster care, and as you know that, if

          7  you're not documented, you're not able to get a

          8  Social Security card, so that's a way of clearly

          9  identifying any remaining kids that we haven't

         10  identified.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I should

         12  add that in New York City Family Court the

         13  permanency law requires that each youth's case be

         14  reviewed by a Family Court judge every six months,

         15  and as part of our attorney's training, we are

         16  ensuring that they are sensitized to this issue.

         17  Equally importantly, the Legal Aid Society and

         18  Lawyers For Children, which represent these youth in

         19  Family Court, in child protective proceedings, are

         20  also attuned to Special Immigrant Juvenile Status

         21  issues, and are inquiring of their clients with

         22  respect to this, and then we are working with these

         23  organizations to ensure that they bring these issues

         24  to our attention when a youth may be eligible.

         25                 And I think that's an important point
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          2  to make, because there is no question that a youth

          3  will feel more likely, or will be more likely to

          4  share something about their immigration status with

          5  their attorney, or a social worker who works with

          6  their attorney, than they will very often with a

          7  child protective worker or an agency case worker.

          8                 And, so, that is another important

          9  piece in identifying these youth, the Family Court

         10  permanency hearing process and the opportunity that

         11  these youth have when represented by counsel in

         12  those Family Court proceedings.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'm talking

         14  about representation by counsel. In the Mayor's

         15  Preliminary Budget where is this money that you're

         16  paying out to represent these youngers, where in the

         17  budget is that? Because you have here, each case may

         18  cost about $400 to $700 per case.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Plus a

         20  thousand dollars in filing fees.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. Where is

         22  that in the budget so that at least could make sure

         23  that these children have been taken care of?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Chair,

         25  if you could just give me one moment, I will
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          2  endeavor to answer that question.

          3                 I'm hearing that what we need to do

          4  is follow-up with you and provide that information

          5  to you later on today or at a later date.

          6                 I apologize.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. I just

          8  feel, I looked to that and I didn't see any

          9  identification whereby that is being taken care of.

         10  And I just feel that if we're going to be taken care

         11  of let's say, you know, could we have at least 200

         12  odd cases to be taken care of, there should be

         13  monies in the budget to take for that purpose, and

         14  --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: We will

         16  ensure that you are provided with that information.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes. It must be

         18  taken care of each year.

         19                 We have questions from Council Member

         20  Mark-Viverito.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Good

         22  morning.

         23                 A couple of questions with regards to

         24  -- as indicated, I know we've touched on it, the

         25  children that have so far been identified as being
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          2  eligible, does that number also include those that

          3  are in kinship care?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: It

          5  would.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay,

          7  so the 135, it just says strictly foster care, so

          8  that would include that as well.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: That's

         10  correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Then

         12  you also had mentioned with regards to the backlog

         13  at INS of the SIJS cases, or applications. Do you

         14  know what that backlog is by any chance? How many

         15  cases are we talking about?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I

         17  actually don't have that number, but let me see if

         18  someone else may.

         19                 We actually don't have a sense of

         20  what the backlog is, but I would like to reiterate

         21  that we did reach out to immigration for the

         22  exclusive purpose of trying to work together with

         23  them to address the backlog and we do believe, and I

         24  hope you'll hear more about this later, we do

         25  believe that there has been some progress made since
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          2  our meeting with them, and that the backlog has

          3  begun to be addressed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

          5  you for that. And then just within the agency, is

          6  there a particular unit or department that just

          7  deals with this issue, with children that are SIJS

          8  eligible? Or is it integrated within the agency as a

          9  whole?

         10                 MR. LEWIS: It's integrated into the

         11  agency, so our foster care, as well as child

         12  protective all work on it. I basically coordinated

         13  it in my role as Director of Immigrant Services.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: And

         15  then you have extensive partnerships with local

         16  organizations as well?

         17                 MR. LEWIS: Right. Then I work with

         18  all the Legal Service organizations that provide

         19  care. And Mr. Gelb also is a liaison with the Family

         20  Court Legal Services Division.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Now

         22  that you're aware of, has there been any discussions

         23  within the agency, or within the Administration

         24  about maybe dealing with this issue separately

         25  outside of ACS.
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          2                 I know that I think there was an

          3  example that we had that California has done some

          4  extensive work around this, has actually set up a

          5  separate, I don't know that it would be considered

          6  an agency or a unit, that really tries to identify

          7  the children and work with it and work with the

          8  organizations. Has there been any discussions about

          9  maybe taking that course of action?

         10                 MR. LEWIS: Well, my understanding in

         11  California, I think Los Angeles County, actually a

         12  unit within their child welfare agency that does

         13  SIJS, so it's not out by the agency, it's within.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But it

         15  has its own budget and it has its own oversight

         16  process?

         17                 MR. LEWIS: Right. I think we're

         18  looking at the best way of serving these kids. And I

         19  think we're open to better ways of doing it.

         20                 My position is relatively new, so

         21  I've only been here since August, so I think we're

         22  really looking at how best to structure those

         23  services.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Now, I

         25  know Chair Stewart had talked about the budget
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          2  aspect. Would you be able to tell us -- well, first

          3  of all, would you be able to tell us how many

          4  children you identified and worked with last year? I

          5  mean, right now this is the number that you've

          6  identified currently, but, for instance, the year

          7  before, what that number was?

          8                 MR. LEWIS: I don't have that data.

          9  I'm not sure we have that, but we'll check.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         11  And also how much money, in terms of the budget, was

         12  allocated for that in total?

         13                 MR. LEWIS: We'll get back. I can say

         14  this, that no child has not received services

         15  because of any budget issue. We're able to serve all

         16  the kids. I don't think there is a special line

         17  item, and we'll go back and check that, but you

         18  know, I think this is a small budget item so it

         19  wouldn't have its own line item. But we'll check

         20  that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

         24  follow up on that, when you say a small line item --

         25  well, first of all, you mentioned awhile ago you
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          2  went to the federal Immigration Office to check on

          3  the backlogs. Could you speak more on that?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I can

          5  try. In our regular meetings with the advocacy

          6  community, and others within the Administration, we

          7  determined that we needed to take a proactive step

          8  to try to address the backlog of SIJS applications

          9  at immigration, and so we reached out to Immigration

         10  and set up a meeting and at that meeting addressed

         11  with the authorities there that this was of grave

         12  concern to us, because these youth have, as you've

         13  identified, a small window of opportunity to get

         14  this critical protection, and they responded

         15  actually by taking our request seriously, and have

         16  begun to address the backlog.

         17                 And I will follow-up with the

         18  specifics on the numbers, because I don't have them

         19  with me. But we certainly think that our reaching

         20  out resulted in what we were looking for, which is

         21  they seem to be working with us to try to ensure

         22  that youth are not aging out without the status.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I don't want to

         24  be difficult, but I get the feeling that what you

         25  are saying is just to appease me.
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          2                 I get the feeling that right now

          3  you're not giving me figures. That makes me feel

          4  that we are not sure that something definitive has

          5  been going on to deal with this issue. Because you

          6  said basically that there is a backlog. You can't

          7  tell me how much is in the backlog, how long have

          8  these cases been there, what happened in the last

          9  five years, how many youngsters have gotten help

         10  within the last year at least or last two years.

         11  Those kind of answers I would like, because of the

         12  fact that this issue came to me about a month ago

         13  and we decided to have this hearing. And I thought

         14  at least we will get definitive figures, as to what

         15  is happening with these youngsters, because the last

         16  time this issue was raised was some years ago when

         17  the City was sued because for ACS to deal with this.

         18                 But I want to know how much we are

         19  doing, and if we are not doing, let's move

         20  expeditiously to deal with this issue.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So,

         22  Chair Stewart, I certainly hope that our testimony

         23  reflected that Children's Services has certainly

         24  made a concerted effort in working with the advocacy

         25  community and internally to identify these youth and
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          2  to work hard to ensure that they get SIJS

          3  protection.

          4                 I appreciate that with respect to

          5  specific numbers, you would like more detail and we

          6  will provide that to you. Absolutely.

          7                 But we have taken pretty concrete

          8  steps, as we described, and institutionalized this

          9  work in an office at Children's Services. And, so,

         10  we are committed to it, and genuinely working to try

         11  to identify these kids and get them this protection.

         12                 MR. LEWIS: May I add?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, let me

         14  make this comment first.

         15                 I know that there is a lot of good

         16  work being done, other than as far as immigration.

         17  Are we dealing specifically here with immigration?

         18  In other words, a lot of good work has been done,

         19  they get services and help, whatever, they get all

         20  that good services, but I don't get the impression

         21  that much has been done as far as immigration is

         22  concerned for these youngsters.

         23                 MR. LEWIS: I would like to clarify. I

         24  mean, we did a survey in June of 2005 to actually,

         25  to try to provide more data so that we had a better
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          2  handle on how many kids were receive SIJS services.

          3  That's where the 135 came up. We did computer runs

          4  to try to identify any kids that we were missing.

          5  That's where the 100 kids came in. We're working on

          6  making sure that every one of those kids, if they

          7  are SIJS eligible, if they are being referred for

          8  services. So, I think we are making efforts and

          9  we're looking to improve that. And we're looking at

         10  other data sources to make sure that we find those

         11  kids. We're working with the law guardians who are

         12  working, are representing those kids, make sure that

         13  they ask those kids and try to get additional

         14  information as well.

         15                 We put out guidelines that we

         16  provided to all the child welfare staff throughout

         17  the City to help educate them on this.

         18                 So, I think we are making very many

         19  positive steps. Can we do more? Yes. And we're

         20  trying to do that.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Yes, I

         22  do want to make really clear, that we have made

         23  concrete efforts to ensure that people have

         24  information on special immigrant juvenile status

         25  that our lawyers and child protective workers and

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  agency workers are informed and trained about

          3  identifying special immigrant juvenile status, and

          4  that we convene a group bimonthly at the agency with

          5  external players to discuss what more we can be

          6  doing with respect to special immigrant juvenile

          7  status.

          8                 So, I want to make clear that we do

          9  provide a great array of services to New York City's

         10  children and families in an effort to protect

         11  children, but that immigration issues, particularly

         12  SIJS issues are front and center in the work that we

         13  are doing, and will continue to make concrete steps

         14  to improve how to identify and then to ensure that

         15  these youth get the protection that they're entitled

         16  to.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, the 17,

         18  what is it, 1,700 or 17,000? Seventeen thousand

         19  folks under ACS care, how many you considered in

         20  long-term?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: How many

         22  have a goal with long-term foster care?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: We

         25  believe that long-term foster care, in terms of
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          2  youth with a goal of independent living, which is

          3  one clearcut way of saying the goal would be

          4  long-term foster care, we think it's in the range of

          5  five to ten percent.

          6                 Then we could do a run and give you

          7  the number of the children whose goal is not return

          8  home. I don't want to take a guess at what that

          9  number is sitting here before you today, but we can

         10  get you that number.

         11                 But I want to reiterate that that

         12  doesn't mean that all of these children, clearly the

         13  great majority of these children are citizens of the

         14  United States.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I understand

         16  that.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So,

         18  while that certainly pares out the kids who have a

         19  goal of reunification, that is not going to answer

         20  the question of how many are eligible for SIJS.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: That is true.

         22                 But there are other issues that I'm

         23  looking at in terms of, in terms of those children,

         24  if you don't know at least who was in long-term

         25  care, basically what's the process in terms of one
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          2  determining that the child is going to be in

          3  long-term? If you have 17,000, you know, today?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Every

          5  six months a child's case is reviewed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Now it's

          8  actually being done through the Family Courts in a

          9  permanency hearing. And the purpose of that hearing

         10  is to review the child's permanency planning goal.

         11  And ACS makes a recommendation in coordination with

         12  a foster care agency, and what we believe should be

         13  the permanency planning goal for a child, and that

         14  plan is then endorsed by a Family Court judge, so

         15  when we think that the goal should change from

         16  reunification to adoption, for example, then we make

         17  that application to the judge and the judge endorses

         18  that, based upon hearing from the parents and

         19  hearing from the child's representative in the

         20  process.

         21                 So, that's the process for

         22  identifying a child's goal.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: It brings up

         24  another issue.

         25                 What happens even if a child is not
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          2  in long-term system yet, but a child is let's say

          3  15, 16, and you know in a couple of years they're

          4  going to be out of the system? What happens there?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Well, on

          6  the child's consent they can remain in care until

          7  they're 21, so --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, but I'm

          9  saying would it be considered long term, and then

         10  what happens -- who makes the decision that you

         11  should be able to file for this program?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: For

         13  SIJS?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Once the

         16  child is considered in long-term foster care,

         17  meaning the goals, not reunification, then they

         18  should be considered and the other factors that are

         19  required should be considered and if they don't have

         20  immigration status in the United States, then our

         21  case workers, and our agency caseworkers and our

         22  attorneys are trained at that point to identify that

         23  youth so that we can begin the process.

         24                 As I said earlier, we are also

         25  hopeful that the law guardians, the lawyers who
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          2  represent these children in the Family Courts are

          3  also attuned to this issue, which I think they are,

          4  and also bringing these youth to our attention so

          5  that we are sure that we are not losing any kids who

          6  may be eligible.

          7                 But as soon as the child's goal is

          8  not return home and the goal is also not that

          9  they're going to be released to another relative or

         10  released to a family friend, if the goal is

         11  long-term foster care, then we want to make sure

         12  that we're assessing whether they may be eligible

         13  for SIJS.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: But they might

         15  be released at that age. You may start them at 18,

         16  and then figure that they may be in the system for a

         17  year or so, and then you release them on their own.

         18                 That's what I'm looking at.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Well,

         20  some children, don't consent to remain in care, so

         21  in 18 they leave the system, and we want to make

         22  sure that no kids are leaving the system without the

         23  documentation that Mr. Lewis has described.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. And at

         25  that stage you would consider that as being eligible
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          2  for SIJS?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Well,

          4  if, as Mr. Lewis described, when we try to put

          5  together the package of things that every adult

          6  should have in the world, including a Social

          7  Security card, for example, when we work and it's

          8  well before the Child turns 18, when the child has a

          9  goal of independent living, maybe 15 or 16, at that

         10  point, when we do the work of putting together their

         11  package, or prepare them for stable adulthood, we

         12  would know whether they would have documentation,

         13  and if they don't, that would alert us to the fact

         14  that SIJS may be applicable.

         15                 MR. LEWIS: Yes, and let me add that,

         16  you know, we work closely with the Division of Youth

         17  and Community Development, and DYCD provided a

         18  contract to Legal Aid and Voices for Youth to do

         19  outreach to foster care youth to help identify.

         20                 So, there's other resources that are

         21  going in to try to help identify these children as

         22  well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You mentioned

         24  that law guardians and all those folks are playing a

         25  role in this, who does the training as to show that
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          2  they have to be able to identify this? Seeing that

          3  you're not keeping records of this because of

          4  Executive Order 41, I want to know who is doing the

          5  training to make sure that these folks are alerted

          6  to something that they should be looking out for?

          7  Who is doing the training?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: We

          9  provide training at the Administration for

         10  Children's Services, but there are also extremely

         11  knowledgeable individuals at The Legal Aid Society

         12  who are expert in Special Immigrant Juvenile Status

         13  and provide training to the law guardians, and

         14  provide training in conjunction with us to other

         15  organizations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Is there regular

         17  training, or mandatory training, or anything that we

         18  can look at to see that this is being done and not

         19  just assuming that they know?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Well,

         21  I'm not assuming that it's getting done. Children's

         22  Services is ensuring that our staff and the staff at

         23  our provider agencies and/our attorneys are trained

         24  in this because it is part of our training. So, you

         25  don't work for us without knowing what SIJS is.
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          2                 My understanding is that at the

          3  advocacy organizations, Lawyers For Children, The

          4  Legal Aid Society's Juvenile Rights Division, they

          5  are also actively training on this issue and helping

          6  their staffs understand this issue and understand

          7  identifying this issue.

          8                 We work with them in an effort to

          9  ensure that training is done. So, I think this is

         10  actually an issue that in the advocacy community is

         11  trained on and at ACS is trained on.

         12                 I also want to take the opportunity

         13  to make that point that I think that it's critical,

         14  and I may have said this already, I think it's

         15  critical for the youth to have the opportunity to

         16  work with an advocate or social worker or advocacy

         17  organization who is familiar with SIJS and trained

         18  in Special Immigrant Juvenile Status, because as I

         19  said, I think that youth are, in many cases, much

         20  more likely to disclose this need to an advocate,

         21  because of their attorney/client relationship than

         22  with a caseworker or an agency worker.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, I want to

         24  thank you for your information and your testimony.

         25                 We would like to follow up on this,

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  to make sure that no children, or no child is left

          3  behind in terms of this benefit that they're

          4  entitled to, and whereby they age out of this and

          5  they can't go back. I will follow-up with you on the

          6  stats. I would want to know basically how many

          7  children are in the system, as far as not having

          8  their papers or Green Card, whatever, and how many

          9  have been filed for, what is our results, what are

         10  our results from the immigration. You know, you talk

         11  about backlogs, I want to know what is happening,

         12  because at least we can assist in communicating with

         13  the Immigration Office to see if what can be done.

         14                 As a matter of fact, I feel that

         15  something must give in terms of the number of kids

         16  that are aging out from this system, and not being

         17  able to get their status legalized.

         18                 Having said that, I want to thank you

         19  for your testimony, and we'll continue.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Thank

         21  you very much for the opportunity. We appreciate

         22  your time.

         23                 MR. LEWIS: Thank you.

         24                 MS. PAGAN-VENEGAS: Good morning.

         25  Thank you. We do have a panel. And I will call you
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          2  up two at a time.

          3                 Amy Meselson from The Legal Aid

          4  Society, the Immigration Law Unit, and Myra Elgabry,

          5  from Lawyers For Children.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I hope someone

          7  from ACS will remain here to at least hear the

          8  testimony.

          9                 All right. Thank you.

         10                 If you can please identify yourselves

         11  and begin.

         12                 MS. MESELSON: Hi. My name is Amy

         13  Meselson. I'm a staff attorney with the Immigration

         14  Law Unit of The Legal Aid Society.

         15                 I actually was just going to provide

         16  a brief introduction to Special Immigrant Juvenile

         17  Status, but I think the substance of my testimony

         18  was covered already, and it would make most sense to

         19  go directly to Myra Elgabry. You will be hearing

         20  later from my colleague Hannah Kim, who is also with

         21  The Legal Aid Society, to get a sense of the work

         22  we're doing.

         23                 MS. ELGABRY: Good morning. My name is

         24  Myra Elgabry. I am an Equal Justice Works Fellow and

         25  attorney at Lawyers For Children in our Immigration
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          2  Rights Project for children in foster care.

          3                 Thank you, Chairperson Stewart and

          4  esteemed members of the Immigration Committee for

          5  the opportunity to testify and for your interest in

          6  the welfare of our City's most vulnerable children.

          7                 As you may know, Lawyers For Children

          8  is a not-for-profit organization dedicated to

          9  protecting the rights of individual children in

         10  foster care, and to compelling foster care

         11  systemwide reform in the City of New York.

         12                 Every child we represent receives

         13  free legal and social work services in cases

         14  involving foster care abuse, neglect, termination of

         15  parental rights, adoption, guardianship, custody and

         16  visitation.

         17                 Our caseload exceeds 4,000 such cases

         18  a year.

         19                 Today I want to discuss the need for

         20  ACS to establish a method of identification and a

         21  uniformed system of providing services to SIJS

         22  eligible children.

         23                 As you have heard, the SISJ process

         24  must be started as early as possible, because a

         25  child will automatically age out of eligibility on
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          2  his or her first 21st birthday, and that occurs even

          3  if the application has already been filed with the

          4  immigration service.

          5                 Many steps must be taken before a

          6  SIJS application is filed. It typically takes six

          7  months to a year to prepare the application. And I

          8  provided a handout that outlines various steps that

          9  must occur in the process.

         10                 After filing application, it

         11  typically will take one year before a decision is

         12  made. Preventing the risk of aging out, requires

         13  coordinated efforts by ACS, law guardians and

         14  immigration attorneys.

         15                 I'd like to provide you with an

         16  example that illustrates why identification process

         17  is so important. The names and some personal

         18  information has been changed.

         19                 Stanley was brought to this country

         20  by his uncle at the age of five, after his parents

         21  abandoned him. Over a number of years, Stanley's

         22  uncle severely abused him, which caused Stanley to

         23  run away from home several times.

         24                 He was placed into foster care at the

         25  age of 13 because his uncle no longer wished to care
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          2  for him and did not plan for his return.

          3                 Stanley lived in several group homes

          4  until he was 20 years old. He was unaware that he

          5  was undocumented. It was only when Stanley was

          6  seeking to apply to a GED program in hopes of

          7  attending culinary school, that the foster care

          8  agency realized he did not have a social security

          9  number.

         10                 The agency contacted an immigration

         11  attorney, and a SIJS motion was quickly filed by LFC

         12  and approved in Family Court.

         13                 The agency has recently applied for

         14  an original birth certificate, which is expected to

         15  take up to two months.

         16                 Stanley is anxiously watching his

         17  calendar as he approaches his 21st birthday and

         18  prepares to age out of foster care and live on his

         19  own.

         20                 He has expressed his fears about

         21  whether he will be able to continue to live in the

         22  United States, the only country he has ever known,

         23  and he has asked us why the agency did not assist

         24  him with getting his Green Card earlier.

         25                 This is a question that needs to be
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          2  answered for family and for hundreds of children in

          3  foster care in our City.

          4                 ACS is required by law to obtain

          5  birth certificates and immigration status for all

          6  children in care.

          7                 That is included in the New York City

          8  rules and regulations, 18 Section 428.3 U2.

          9                 However, currently there is no

         10  systematic method in place for ACS to record whether

         11  a child is foreign born or undocumented, nor is

         12  there a consistent method to communicate that

         13  information to law guardians and immigration

         14  attorneys.

         15                 As law guardians, we often are first

         16  to learn -- first learn a child is undocumented when

         17  a caseworker encounters problems while assisting a

         18  child with employment or financial aid for college.

         19                 This occurs in the later teenage

         20  years. Starting the SIJS process at such a late age

         21  creates a risk of aging out and must be avoided.

         22                 At LFC, our attorneys and social

         23  workers screen for SIJS through our client

         24  interviews and review of case records. However, our

         25  screening process cannot always capture every
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          2  SIJS-eligible child. Some undocumented children were

          3  brought to this country when they were very young,

          4  have been raised as American and are not able to

          5  self-identify as undocumented.

          6                 If law guardians had ready access to

          7  a child's country of birth, we would instantly

          8  become aware of the potential for SIJS eligibility

          9  and conduct an inquiry.

         10                 This would prevent a child from aging

         11  out of foster care without ever being screened for

         12  SIJS. The solution to this problem is simple. We

         13  request that ACS immediately create a field in each

         14  child's case file, which includes either country of

         15  birth or U.S. born/foreign born categories, and make

         16  that field available to law guardians.

         17                 The identification field can be

         18  placed in a number of areas.

         19                 For example, a field could be added

         20  to court petitions. Another place could be in the

         21  State-mandated permanency hearing reports, which are

         22  provided to the Family Court every six months. We

         23  recognize that ACS has made efforts to explore a

         24  policy of identification, but they have not been

         25  found to be successful.
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          2                 For example, ACS tested a method

          3  based on the check box on intake forms marked

          4  Section 4E federal funding, which is supposed to

          5  exclude children who are undocumented.

          6                 We think that method can certainly

          7  serve as a compliment to a country of birth field,

          8  but it is not an effective solution on its own.

          9                 A test count using 4E data

         10  drastically under-estimated the amount of SIJS

         11  cases.

         12                 For example, for LFC, only seven out

         13  of our 40 pending cases were identified by ACS.

         14  Other SIJS advocates had similarly low capture

         15  rates.

         16                 To improve accuracy, we've proposed

         17  that the information be recorded by the case worker

         18  in charge of collecting birth certificates.

         19                 Foster care agency case workers also

         20  need guidance and supervision on what to do once a

         21  child is identified as foreign born. A number of

         22  steps should be taken early, otherwise the SIJS

         23  application will be unnecessarily delayed.

         24                 For these reasons, we propose that

         25  ACS develop a specialized unit for processing SIJS
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          2  cases, and create a uniformed immigration checklist

          3  for foreign born children.

          4                 Case workers would update the check

          5  list at regular intervals and submit it for approval

          6  to an ACS supervisor.

          7                 The checklist should ask whether a

          8  foreign born child has a valid Green Card, and if

          9  so, simply include a copy of the card. If it should

         10  ask if the child has been referred to an immigration

         11  attorney, whether the original birth certificate and

         12  passport had been collected, and explain reasons for

         13  any delays.

         14                 We believe that such a uniformed

         15  checklist, would be both efficient and helpful. Our

         16  proposed system would have prevented Stanley's case

         17  and the cases of others like him from being

         18  overlooked for so long.

         19                 We seek these changes because the

         20  stakes for any SIJS-eligible child are enormous.

         21                 Losing SIJS means a child will not

         22  get financial aid for college, not be able to apply

         23  for jobs, or receive federal housing assistance, and

         24  will be at risk of deportation back to a country

         25  where he or she likely has no resources.
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          2                 It is all of our obligations to make

          3  sure that no child in our City's care is overlooked

          4  or ages out of these crucial benefits that Congress

          5  has created for them.

          6                 The City Council has provided

          7  important leadership on issues of children in foster

          8  care and immigrant services, and we applaud you for

          9  continuing to do so.

         10                 We urge you to continue to raise your

         11  voices and muster resources to advocate for the most

         12  vulnerable members of our society, undocumented

         13  children who have been abandoned, abused and/or

         14  neglected.

         15                 We believe that the collaborative

         16  efforts of such advocates and ACS to create an

         17  identification system, will help all SIJS-eligible

         18  children in foster care to have the opportunities

         19  that they deserve.

         20                 We are available to assist in any way

         21  possible to improve the services and quality of care

         22  for children in need.

         23                 Thank you for your time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You have heard

         25  the Administration spoke about Executive Order 41,
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          2  preventing them from really keeping records. How do

          3  you see them having this checklist that you just

          4  mentioned for the foreign born. How do you see them

          5  implementing that? Because of the fact that I ask

          6  about a way of keeping some record, and the answer

          7  was basically that Executive Order prevents them

          8  from doing so. Which I don't believe so, but that

          9  was the answer. How do you see them working it

         10  whereby we can have this checklist?

         11                 MS. ELGABRY: Well, one thing is that

         12  we don't believe that the undocumented status needs

         13  to be publicly listed on the court file or any other

         14  public case.

         15                 And secondly, for SIJS-eligible

         16  children to receive services, it must be documented

         17  somewhere that they are in need of SIJS services,

         18  and because so many steps must be taken for a SIJS

         19  application to be completed, there needs to be some

         20  kind of record on who is following up with that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, you were

         22  saying?

         23                 MS. ELGABRY: So I'm saying that once

         24  a child is found to be eligible for SIJS, we feel

         25  it's inevitable that there should be some record in
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          2  the agency case files which should remain private,

          3  but should be able to provide a system where the

          4  services can be followed up on and we can make sure

          5  that every step is taken in a timely manner.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, you're

          7  saying we can do a check list as to whether someone

          8  is foreign born or not, and the foreign born, we

          9  should follow-up, not necessarily keeping a record,

         10  but you follow up to make sure that that person is

         11  eligible, and if they are, the process starts from

         12  there.

         13                 How do we expect to accomplish that,

         14  if we have the different agencies and different --

         15  how do you put that together?

         16                 MS. ELGABRY: Yes, well, one thing I

         17  just wanted to note, that Executive Order refers to

         18  immigration status, and someone could be foreign

         19  born or have a Green Card or be a citizen, so we're

         20  hoping that that field of being foreign born or not

         21  does not overlap with Executive Order 41.

         22                 But to your question, that is why

         23  we're asking for a specialized unit in ACS to handle

         24  SIJS cases either on level of supervising or

         25  handling the SIJS cases from start to finish.
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          2                 We believe that's the only way that

          3  all the different agencies can coordinate and get

          4  the guidance that they need in order to process

          5  these cases.

          6                 In my experience I've spoken to

          7  caseworkers of various contract agencies who are

          8  well intentioned and they want to be able to help

          9  but they don't know what to do. And other

         10  caseworkers maybe have not been trained on the

         11  subject. So, we think that the best, because SIJS is

         12  such a specialized area that it would be very

         13  helpful if there were certain practitioners that are

         14  available to assist at every stage of the process.

         15                 So, you are stating that basically

         16  just like how there might be a system whereby, for

         17  medical they have you checked out and all that, and

         18  they should be done for status; you're saying that?

         19                 MS. ELGABRY: I think that once a

         20  child is identified as foreign born --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, but what

         22  I'm looking at in my view, we have quite a lot there

         23  now, we would have to start with the new folks that

         24  are coming in to identify them as they come in. But

         25  we're talking about even those that are in the
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          2  system already, some time they take them for medical

          3  check up, they go through the array of different

          4  things, services that they may need, and there are

          5  questions being asked and all that, so you're

          6  saying, in that process, is that the way we should

          7  be going to identify those folks?

          8                 MS. ELGABRY: I think that for

          9  children that are already in care, that one way is

         10  to make sure that there's a birth certificate on

         11  file for every child. And another way that ACS

         12  suggested, is that there is a Social Security number

         13  on file for every child. That's one way to capture

         14  the children that have already gone through the

         15  intake process. But we also think that that should

         16  not be limited to children who are in their late

         17  teens or even age 14. We think that every child

         18  should be looked at for whether they have those

         19  documents in their file.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. I am

         21  still concerned that I am not getting the feel that

         22  there is a definite part way that we can work on

         23  that will make sure that each child status that will

         24  be checked and across the stats and the process

         25  starts immediately after they found out that the
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          2  child is eligible for this program.

          3                 I want to announce that there are

          4  definitely things that we need to do now, whether

          5  the child is coming in, but I was told from the ACS,

          6  that it's not at the time, at that time you cannot

          7  determine, because they may not be eligible because

          8  it might be short term, but I think at that time we

          9  should at least know the status and know what's

         10  happening so that if it is determined by the course

         11  that this child is not going to go back home or in

         12  the short time that this process should start.

         13                 MS. ELGABRY: I agree with that. And

         14  the way it's set up now is that children are

         15  supposed to be reviewed in part every six months,

         16  and once that that field is available to ACS, the

         17  law guardians and the Family Court judge in the case

         18  file, then we have an opportunity every six months

         19  to at least monitor whether the child becomes

         20  eligible for SIJS.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right, I

         22  want to thank you for your testimony.

         23                 Is there any questions by my

         24  colleagues? We have been joined by Council Member

         25  Annabel Palma.
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          2                 Do you have any questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So everybody is

          5  happy. All right, thank you. Thank you.

          6                 MS. PAGAN-VENEGAS: Okay, thank you.

          7  Now I'd like to call up Lynn Neugebauer and Hannah

          8  Kim. Lynn is from Safe Horizon Immigration Law

          9  Project, an Hannah Kim is from The Legal Aid

         10  Society, Criminal Rights Division.

         11                 MS. NEUGEBAUER: Good morning. My name

         12  is Lynn Neugebauer. I'm the Director of the Safe

         13  Horizon Immigration Law Project. I'd like to thank

         14  the City Council, Mr. Kendall Stewart, for inviting

         15  us to testify here today. Safe Horizon is the

         16  nation's leading crime victim assistance

         17  organization.

         18                 Every year the entire Safe Horizon

         19  organization serves more than 350,000 New Yorkers

         20  who have experienced a wide range of violence and

         21  abuse in their lives, including domestic violence,

         22  rape and sexual assault, homicide, trafficking,

         23  stalking and child physical and sexual abuse.

         24                 The Immigration Law Project, which

         25  has been operating since 1988 provides free and
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          2  low-cost services in all areas of immigration law,

          3  including U visas, T visas, VAWA self petitions,

          4  battered spouse petitions, work authorization

          5  applications, deportation and removal proceeding

          6  events, and the topic here today, Special Immigrant

          7  Juvenile petitions.

          8                 Last year the Safe Horizon

          9  Immigration Law Project handled 21 SIJ cases on a

         10  continuum from the initial intake, with the child

         11  and his or her case manager, to preparation of the

         12  applications submitted to the immigration service,

         13  representation at the interview, and although we

         14  didn't have to go to Federal Court in the last year,

         15  we have done in the past, we went so far last year

         16  as to prepare all Federal Court documents in the

         17  pleadings and serve them on the government in order

         18  to prevent one young man from aging out, since the

         19  immigration service had not approved his case until

         20  the very last day he turned 21 years of age.

         21                 And I want to mention that case was

         22  on file at least a year with the immigration service

         23  i their backlog. They had only called them into our

         24  interview about a month and a half before he turned

         25  21, and, of course, as often happens in a SIJ case,
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          2  one document was missing from his case that they

          3  absolutely needed to approve his case, and we were

          4  way, way, way down to the wire, and gave us all a

          5  lot of gray hair, which could have been avoided.

          6                 We work on both guardianship SIJ

          7  cases and foster cases, but most of the SIJ cases

          8  that we do involves foster care children who are

          9  accompanied by their case worker from their contract

         10  agencies that work with ACS.

         11                 We're asking the City Council to

         12  require ACS to provide training on Special Immigrant

         13  Juvenile cases to the foster care agencies with whom

         14  it contracts.

         15                 Firstly, the foster care manager is

         16  the front line person who can often identify a child

         17  who was not documented, and we often see this

         18  because a child wants to go to school and needs

         19  financial aid, or a child is looking for work and

         20  doesn't have that all important Social Security

         21  card.

         22                 And secondly, almost without

         23  exception, when a foster care agency caseworker

         24  calls us, or comes into our office with a child

         25  regarding the permanent resident status, that case
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          2  worker has very little information about what the

          3  SIJ process is, what it really means, what documents

          4  are required, the fact that the agency is going to

          5  have to get money for the filing fees with the

          6  immigration service, and other costs including the

          7  Medical Examination, they don't know that the

          8  identification documents are needed, birth

          9  certificates are required, the child has to go to

         10  the different appointments with the immigration

         11  service, the child has got to get the medical exam,

         12  the child has got to be fingerprinted, the child has

         13  got to go to the Consulate for a passport, there has

         14  to be sometimes the coordination with a law guardian

         15  to get the special findings order that's required,

         16  and then there's the interview, at least one and

         17  sometimes two, and sometimes three, depending on how

         18  many documents are not quite ready.

         19                 It's an exceptional case where the

         20  foster care employee who has identified a SIJ

         21  applicant actually has any information about the

         22  process. We spent a lot of time educating the foster

         23  care workers about the law and the procedure, and we

         24  often spend a lot of time advocating with the worker

         25  to help us obtain requisites for the application,
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          2  and sometimes I guess because they're so overworked,

          3  overburdened or lack of an understanding of the

          4  process, we, ourselves, will try to get those

          5  documents, including birth certificates and identity

          6  documents, or we'll spend a great deal of time

          7  calling and following up and trying to see can we

          8  get a check cut for the immigration filing fee, if

          9  the clock is running on the age out process.

         10                 We'll have to spend a lot of time

         11  following up, making sure kids get to their

         12  fingerprinting appointments, which is an absolute

         13  requisite before a case can be approved.

         14                 Now, I don't want to say there aren't

         15  a lot of savvy and dedicated foster care workers,

         16  because that's not true, there certainly are. But I

         17  feel they're at a little bit of a disadvantage

         18  because they don't have a training coming into this

         19  process about what the SIJ process entails.

         20  Sometimes, and I've had it expressed to me, like I'm

         21  being too demanding asking for a birth certificate

         22  or identity document, when actually it's not at all

         23  the lawyer's request, it's actually the Immigration

         24  Service's requiring these things.

         25                 Training will help these front-line
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          2  workers identify what documents come from the law

          3  and the immigration service so they can start

          4  working on it at an early age for the child. It

          5  doesn't all have to be done in the year before the

          6  kid ages out.

          7                 So, in summary, we think education

          8  and front line foster care workers as to the SIJ

          9  program would help provide better identification of

         10  somebody who slipped through the cracks, a potential

         11  SIJ applicant. It expedite the obtaining of the

         12  necessary documentation, and then we can work

         13  together to help the foster care children obtain

         14  that important Green Card.

         15                 And I want to thank you for your time

         16  and support.

         17                 MS. KIM: Good morning. My name is

         18  Hannah Kim, and I'm an attorney with The Legal Aid

         19  Society's Juvenile Rights Division, where I work

         20  with undocumented youth in foster care and assist

         21  them in obtaining Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

         22                 I submit this testimony on behalf of

         23  Legal Aid Society, and thank the Committee on

         24  Immigration for the opportunity to testify about

         25  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.
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          2                 The Legal Aid Society, founded in

          3  1876, to provide legal assistance to poor immigrants

          4  is the nation's oldest and largest not for profit

          5  public interest law firm for low-income families and

          6  individuals.

          7                 The Legal Aid Society is organized

          8  into three practice areas; criminal, civil and

          9  juvenile rights.

         10                 The Society's Juvenile Rights

         11  Division is the primary institutional provider of

         12  legal representation to children in New York City.

         13                 Last year the Division's attorneys,

         14  social workers and paralegals represented

         15  approximately 27,000 children in Family Court

         16  proceedings involving abuse and neglect, termination

         17  of parental rights, foster care review, status

         18  offenses and juvenile delinquency.

         19                 The next paragraph in general

         20  discusses the needs of undocumented youth in foster

         21  care, and since we've heard it over and over again,

         22  I'll go ahead and skip that. And turning to page

         23  two, at the top I will start discussing the work

         24  that Legal Aid Society has done in particular in

         25  regards to undocumented youth in foster care.
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          2                 In 2002, the Immigration Law Unit,

          3  based within the Civil Practice Area, and the

          4  Juvenile Rights Division jointly initiated the

          5  Immigrant Youth Representation Project to respond to

          6  the special needs of hundreds of New York City

          7  immigrant youth under the age of 18 who are in

          8  foster care and undocumented.

          9                 Since its inception, the youth

         10  project, with the assistance of attorneys from the

         11  private bar working with Legal Aid on a pro bono

         12  basis has provided free legal assistance and

         13  advocacy to undocumented immigrant youth in New York

         14  City and enabled them to obtain permanent residency

         15  through a special immigrant juvenile status.

         16                 The project has also trained

         17  attorneys to represent undocumented minors and youth

         18  advocates outside of the immigration field to

         19  identify their clients' immigration issues.

         20                 In addition, Project staff regularly

         21  provide in-depth advice and counsel to law

         22  guardians, foster care case workers, and immigration

         23  advocates seeking advice on SIJ and other

         24  immigration benefits with juveniles.

         25                 Due to the overwhelming demand for
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          2  assistance in seeking SIJ benefits for undocumented

          3  use, the Society recognized the need to expand

          4  services to the underserved population.

          5                 In 2005, the New York City Department

          6  of Youth and Community Development, also known as

          7  DYCD, awarded funding to the Society's Juvenile

          8  Rights Division to expand immigrant foster care

          9  services through the SIJ project.

         10                 The DYCD grant supports the work of a

         11  full-time attorney and a paralegal to help screen

         12  youth for possible relief and to provide legal

         13  assistance when needed.

         14                 Since the project started, we also

         15  held trainings in all the Legal Aid boroughs and

         16  18-B panels, and also trained each in-coming class

         17  of the law guardians to the Society staff.

         18                 In addition to Legal Aid staff, the

         19  DYCD funding allows for Voices of Youth to employ a

         20  youth advocate to perform outreach to the youth in

         21  care. Staffed by former foster care children, Voices

         22  of Youth is an organization dedicated to promoting

         23  the needs of adolescents in care. In less than a

         24  year, this project has enhanced the Society's

         25  capacity to serve immigrant youth in the foster care
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          2  system. The majority of clients are in the custody

          3  of ACS. By training case workers and law guardians

          4  and also educating the undocumented youth

          5  themselves, the project has been able to screen

          6  youth in foster care to determine their eligibility

          7  for immigration benefits.

          8                 Since October of 2002, the Society

          9  has provided legal assistance to approximately 350

         10  juvenile immigrants. The Society is currently

         11  working on 76 applications for SIJ. Since 2002, 20

         12  of our clients have been granted SIJ.

         13                 Despite its success, the project has

         14  encountered several obstacles in seeking to provide

         15  legal assistance to undocumented youth in foster

         16  care. Two major obstacles deserve mention. The first

         17  obstacle is the lack of systematic screening of

         18  youth in foster care. ACS has the responsibility to

         19  ensure that all eligible youth in foster care

         20  receive legal assistance.

         21                 Since most of the issues and

         22  recommendations have already been addressed, I'll

         23  skip down to the second obstacle, which is the lack

         24  of primary documents, such as birth certificates.

         25  Immigration requires these documents to process any
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          2  application for permanent residence.

          3                 Yet, many youth in foster care do not

          4  possess these documents. Many youths in foster care

          5  who were born abroad do not have birth certificates,

          6  and neither ACS nor foster care agencies under

          7  contract with ACS regularly obtain them, despite the

          8  regulations requiring them to do so.

          9                 Youth often begin asking for these

         10  documents when they start looking for a job or

         11  attempt to apply for college.

         12                 Waiting until this late point, often

         13  years after entering foster care, can deprive a

         14  young person of the ability to obtain lawful status.

         15                 We find that youth who were brought

         16  to the United States at a very young age do not know

         17  the basic information necessary to obtain the

         18  replacement birth certificates and often do not even

         19  know their own legal status.

         20                 To complicate matters, obtaining

         21  documents from the consulates of other governments

         22  can be time consuming and difficult, and many foster

         23  care caseworkers do not know how to utilize

         24  consulates to obtain these documents, and many

         25  consulates are also unaware of the needs of youth in
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          2  foster care. Because an application for SIJS must be

          3  filed and adjudicated before a young person turns

          4  21, early identification of eligible youth is

          5  crucial; the consequences of failure to obtain

          6  documents at the moment youth enter foster care are

          7  irrevocable.

          8                 The changes, if implemented, will

          9  alleviate most of the problems, many identification

         10  changes have been addressed. We would like ACS, if

         11  possible, to designate or hire program manager

         12  supervisor that specifically has responsibility of

         13  collecting birth certificates for each youth in

         14  foster care.

         15                 While Mr. Lewis's position will

         16  improve services for immigrants in general in the

         17  youth in care and need assistance, he alone cannot

         18  locate each and every birth certificate necessary

         19  for all the youth in care. Many times obtaining one

         20  birth certificate can take hundreds of hours.

         21                 Legal Aid's SIJS project recently

         22  helped one youth obtain her Green Card. Jane's

         23  mother brought her to the United States when she was

         24  ten years old. Her father had come to America

         25  several years earlier. When Jane arrived from
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          2  Antigua, her father began to sexually abuse his

          3  daughter. A neighbor ultimately called ACS and Jane

          4  entered the foster care system at 13 years old. Even

          5  if she wasn't eligible at the point that she entered

          6  into foster care, if Jane had been identified at

          7  this point, then her case could have been flagged as

          8  being that she may need immigration assistance in

          9  the future. Ultimately what happened was Jane

         10  remained in foster care for seven years, and then

         11  during that time, the permanency goal, as you guys

         12  have been hearing, had changed from return to parent

         13  to independent living, and she spoke with a group

         14  home friend who ultimately told her about SIJS.

         15                 Jane never spoke to anyone else about

         16  her immigration status, but she at least knew that

         17  she was undocumented, and so when she heard about

         18  SIJS from her friend, she took her birth certificate

         19  to an immigration lawyer, and by having her birth

         20  certificate and knowing she was undocumented, this

         21  put her two steps ahead of most undocumented youth.

         22                 The problem in Jane's case was not

         23  knowing that there was even relief available to her

         24  years ago, and by the time she reached immigration

         25  attorney for screening she was almost 20 years old.

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 Jane successfully did receive her

          3  Green Card six months prior to aging out of foster

          4  care, and also losing eligibility for SIJS.

          5                 Had Jane not possessed her original

          6  birth certificate and passport, she may have aged

          7  out and become ineligible for SIJS before she could

          8  obtain the replacement documents.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I wanted to go

         11  back to a couple of questions.

         12                 Now, let me see if I've got the name

         13  right. Lynn?

         14                 MS. NEUGEBAUER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

         16                 You said earlier that we are asking

         17  the City Council to require ACS to provide training

         18  on special immigrants juvenile cases to the foster

         19  care agencies with whom it contracts.

         20                 Are you basically requesting that we

         21  maybe put it into law that this year's must do that,

         22  you know, have special provider training for these

         23  agencies?

         24                 MS. NEUGEBAUER: Yes. For the reasons

         25  that we mentioned, that, first of all helps these
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          2  front-line workers identify any children who have

          3  not previously been identified SIJS applicants.

          4                 And, secondly, besides the

          5  identification factor, it helps them help the child

          6  negotiate the process a little bit. If they don't

          7  have the necessary documents, they may be a SIJS

          8  applicant, but they're going to be at a severe

          9  disadvantage of getting everything together and

         10  filing and being successful in the application for

         11  permanent residency.

         12                 So it would be really helpful if the

         13  front line workers who have actual daily contact

         14  with the children in foster care knew about this

         15  program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, you're

         17  basically saying that, we heard that the agency said

         18  that the law, the lawyers in their department would

         19  know, and all those folks would know. What you are

         20  saying now, you want some form of training for those

         21  front line folks, people who meet them for the first

         22  time who might go through an investigation, do all

         23  these things in the beginning, before it reaches a

         24  stage where you consider them to be long-term foster

         25  care children. That is what you're saying?
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          2                 MS. NEUGEBAUER: That is what I'm

          3  saying, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Fine.

          5                 MS. KIM: If I could add one thing?

          6  The reason why you have to train the caseworkers in

          7  addition to the law guardians is that youth who are

          8  referred to an immigration attorney, it literally is

          9  split evenly. A third of them will self-identify --

         10                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Use the

         11  microphone.

         12                 MS. KIM: Okay.

         13                 A third of them will self-identify

         14  and then find themselves an immigration attorney

         15  somehow, through a friend or on their own. A third

         16  are referred by law guardians and a third are

         17  referred by caseworkers. So, failing to train

         18  caseworkers will ultimately leave a third of youth

         19  who could, and ultimately do receive SIJS without

         20  the ability or means to get to an immigration

         21  attorney.

         22                 So, just training one aspect without

         23  training the other layers in the life of a youth in

         24  foster care is going to leave out a number of youth.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: One of you
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          2  mentioned awhile ago that they identified only seven

          3  of the 40 cases. Could you speak to that?

          4                 MS. KIM: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Because if they

          6  only identify seven of the 40 cases that are dealing

          7  with this, it mean then they may not -- they may

          8  have missed a lot and the other CBOs that are

          9  dealing with this.

         10                 MS. KIM: Right. The seven of the 40

         11  was what Myra referred to at Lawyers for Children.

         12                 Ultimately what happened was back in

         13  June of last year, ACS asked all the advocates who

         14  do regularly process SIJS applications, for a count

         15  of how many applications they're working on. And

         16  they added all those up and they said, okay, well,

         17  it looks like we have at least 130 kids that are

         18  undocumented in long-term foster care, who have

         19  somehow made it to an immigration attorney.

         20                 Then they did a pole of 100 kids that

         21  from internal, basically 4E eligibility requirements

         22  to see if there were additional kids that were on

         23  that 130 that were already identified as being

         24  undocumented youth in care, and they came up with a

         25  list of 100.
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          2                 There should have been an overlap,

          3  those 130 that the law guardians or caseworkers had

          4  already referred, so those young people should have

          5  also appeared on the non-4E eligible list. And, so,

          6  it's evident that when ACS was trying to identify

          7  youth, they're missing them, and seven out of 40 is

          8  just an example that when one agency has 40 kids

          9  that are eligible for SIJS, ACS has only identified

         10  seven of them.

         11                 The other 32 have been referred or

         12  the immigration status has been highlighted either

         13  through self-identification or because the law

         14  guardian asked them or the case worker asked them,

         15  and ACS is unaware of the legal status.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, I just point

         17  to the fact that we need someone to at least be the

         18  guardian of this issue, someone to really to follow

         19  the trail and to make sure that each child is being

         20  identified whether they have this benefit or not.

         21                 I am going to be looking at these

         22  stats from ACS to see exactly what it is, and we

         23  would like to know that they continue to follow-up

         24  on this issue.

         25                 I just want to be sure that if we put
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          2  some legislation in where they must do -- the folks,

          3  front-line folks must be trained in this issue, I

          4  believe that they said that everyone is all aware,

          5  but now that you mention front-line folks, we want

          6  to make sure that they, too, know that this is

          7  something that they should be looking for, and may

          8  not be looking for whether they are documented or

          9  not, but looking to see whether they are

         10  foreign-born, or if they are US born, and if they

         11  are foreign-born then that can be a way in which we

         12  can tag or we can flag those folks may or may not

         13  need this program.

         14                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         15                 I think their quite knowledgeable on

         16  this issue, they're not going to ask any questions.

         17                 Thank you. Thank you very much. I

         18  hope we can follow through on the question of

         19  whether we should really put this into some sort of

         20  legislation whereby they must train folks in the

         21  front line, all right? Thank you very much.

         22                 MS. PAGAN-VENEGAS: Thank you. I'd

         23  like to call up Ghita Schwarz, from The Door Legal

         24  Services, and Ragini Shah, Columbia University

         25  School of Law, Child Advocacy and Immigration
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          2  Clinic.

          3                 MS. SCHWARZ: Good morning. My name is

          4  Ghita Schwarz. I'm a Staff Attorney and the

          5  Chadbourne Parke Fellow at The Door Legal Services

          6  Center.

          7                 The Door is New York City's largest

          8  multi-service youth development organization. Since

          9  1972, we've provided young people, age 12 to 21 with

         10  a comprehensive range of free services, including

         11  tutoring, counseling, health care, art classes,

         12  career development, nutrition and legal services.

         13                 More than 8,000 young people

         14  participated in Door activities last year, and 750

         15  received legal assistance.

         16                 Our Legal Services Center provides

         17  free representation and advice in civil matters,

         18  including public assistance, housing, foster care

         19  rights, family law, education law and immigration

         20  advocacy.

         21                 Immigration services are by far our

         22  largest area of legal need, comprising about 40

         23  percent of our total cases.

         24                 A large number of our young clients

         25  in this immigration category are eligible for
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          2  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status or SIJS.

          3                 In the past five years, we will have

          4  represented more than 1,000 young people in claims

          5  for lawful permanent residence, 275 Special

          6  Immigrant Juveniles have obtained Green Cards

          7  through our advocacy in the last five years, and

          8  many more are at various stages of the application

          9  process now.

         10                 We are not court-assigned attorneys.

         11  Most of our clients find us through referrals from

         12  their peers, social workers, school guidance

         13  counselors or neighbors. We therefore have a unique

         14  perspective on young people whose legal needs are

         15  not addressed by current institutional providers.

         16                 Many of our clients, despite multiple

         17  contacts with City institutions are not flagged for

         18  SIJS eligibility, and discover they may have an

         19  immigration benefit only through chance, perhaps the

         20  persistence of a relative, or the suggestion of a

         21  counselor or teacher.

         22                 I'm going to speak about a category

         23  of young people who are not inside foster care, but

         24  still have had a lot of contact with ACS and with

         25  other City institutions.
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          2                 One of the criteria to obtain SIJS is

          3  that young people under 21 be eligible for long-term

          4  foster care.

          5                 Immigration understands eligible

          6  long-term foster care to include young people in

          7  guardianship or adoption situations. Many of these

          8  young people will not have been in foster care at

          9  any time in their life, some of them will have been

         10  in foster care and out at various times, others may

         11  have had interactions with the ACS system,

         12  preventive services, and otherwise ended up in a

         13  guardianship or adopted situation, without ever

         14  having been inside foster care.

         15                 Many of these young people who are

         16  not in foster care may be eligible for lawful status

         17  and have no way of knowing it, except through

         18  informal means. And there currently is no formal or

         19  institutional way to alert these young people of

         20  their potential eligibility to adjust their status.

         21                 This need is particularly crucial for

         22  kids nearing the age of 18. If these young people

         23  are in guardianships, courts, Family Court cease to

         24  have jurisdiction over them at age 18, not at age 21

         25  for the rest of the SIJS group.
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          2                 Once they hit 18, they lose any

          3  eligibility to do the preliminary steps to get SIJS

          4  status. There are numerous opportunities for ACS to

          5  flag SIJS eligible youth long before they enter the

          6  foster care system or even if they do not enter the

          7  foster care system at all.

          8                 ACS enters a child's life very early

          9  on through preventive and other family support

         10  services. Many children who have had some contact

         11  with ACS investigators or other caseworkers are not

         12  taken into care immediately or at all. These

         13  children often resolve serious home violence or

         14  other conflicts in an informal way, frequently by

         15  moving in with a relative or friend.

         16                 Often ACS services or other

         17  investigative workers will encourage the relative to

         18  file for custody or guardianship, but no further

         19  assistance or education or awareness is provided to

         20  the child or guardian about the potential for

         21  immigration benefits.

         22                 An example that we've had in our

         23  office recently, a young girl who at age 16 fled

         24  sexual abuse in her parents' home. She fled to live

         25  with her aunt. When she reported the abuse to her
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          2  aunt, her aunt called the State child abuse hot line

          3  and an investigation was initiated by ACS.

          4                 Pending the dispute in Family Court,

          5  ACS recommended that the aunt seek custody.

          6                 The young girl's parents did not

          7  appear in court for the custody hearing and the

          8  Family Court Judge granted custody to the aunt.

          9  Subsequently this young girl's parents moved out of

         10  state, refused to provide the aunt with the child's

         11  contact information, much less financial support.

         12                 ACS did not follow up on the sexual

         13  abuse investigation and the case was closed without

         14  the aunt or the young woman ever learning that this

         15  set of circumstances clearly rendered this young

         16  woman eligible for SIJS. She had been abused,

         17  neglected and abandoned. She was dependent on the

         18  Family Court and there was no viability for family

         19  reunification.

         20                 She's an honor roll student and eager

         21  for college. If she had not found us on her own, she

         22  would have had little chance of ever legalizing her

         23  status.

         24                 This case is very typical of the

         25  number of SIJS-eligible cases that we see.
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          2                 In our experience, ACS is intervening

          3  in numerous ways in the lives of at-risk young

          4  people, but they are also missing numerous

          5  opportunities to refer them for legal assistance.

          6                 It's crucial for us to develop

          7  methods of identifying these young people at

          8  multiple points of contact, not just when they are

          9  aging out, or not just when they are even placed in

         10  foster care. Long before that.

         11                 ACS needs to do some preliminary

         12  assessment for SIJS eligibility at the earliest

         13  possible stage of investigation and prevention.

         14                 Children who are not taken into

         15  foster care but who live with a non-parent should

         16  receive, at minimum, a referral for a competent

         17  legal evaluation.

         18                 Identifying and referring young

         19  immigrants for legal assistance should be an

         20  essential part of family support and preventive

         21  services.

         22                 The youth who make it to the Door

         23  likely represent a tiny portion of the number of

         24  immigrant children in this hidden category. We

         25  believe that a substantial number of kids with some
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          2  ACS contact are missing opportunities to legalize

          3  their status.

          4                 Many, many, many of our young clients

          5  come to us through referrals from school guidance

          6  counselors or other staff who have gained the trust

          7  of their students. An enormous number of these kids

          8  are undocumented and living with loving parents;

          9  many are not yet fully aware until they see us that

         10  they're undocumented status will prevent them from

         11  accessing financial aid for college or from working

         12  legally.

         13                 There is little that we can do for

         14  them, and it is heart-breaking, but even more

         15  heartbreaking are the kids for whom we could have

         16  begun the SIJS process if they had come to us before

         17  their 18th birthday. We need to find these kids

         18  before they lose their chances to legalize.

         19                 The Department of Education, like

         20  ACS, has numerous opportunities to provide referrals

         21  or raise awareness among students, long before the

         22  college guidance process, which is often the point

         23  at which undocumented youth who are seeking

         24  financial aid for college realize that they may not

         25  be eligible.
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          2                 Schools already require that students

          3  be enrolled by either a parent or a legal guardian.

          4  Students who are attempting to enroll without a

          5  court-sanctioned guardian should be receiving legal

          6  referrals for this purpose alone, regardless of

          7  their immigration status, regardless of whether they

          8  are citizens or not. They must have legal guardians

          9  to enter school or parents, and if they don't have

         10  those, it should be just part of the school's

         11  regular practice to assist them.

         12                 Further, at enrollment or soon

         13  thereafter, the school system should be able to

         14  develop ways of making appropriate and confidential

         15  legal referrals for immigration services. An

         16  intervention at an earlier stage is particularly

         17  important for students who may not be college bound,

         18  or who rarely meet with guidance staff.

         19                 Every legal advocate has a story

         20  about a client who is clearly a candidate for foster

         21  care, SIJS status and other benefits but was

         22  overlooked by other City agencies, including

         23  homeless service providers and City hospitals and

         24  clinics.

         25                 We should be looking for ways to
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          2  improve awareness among case workers, medical and

          3  medical staff of the vital importance they play in

          4  protecting immigrant children.

          5                 None of us would ever suggest that

          6  there should be any change in the kind of law and

          7  practice requiring provision of essential services

          8  to undocumented children, regardless of their legal

          9  status.

         10                 That practice does require enormous

         11  sensitivity in reaching out to undocumented youth

         12  and their families about their immigration status.

         13  All of us recognize that a question asked with the

         14  best intentions can scare away a fearful child and

         15  prevent her from accessing any help at all.

         16                 But what we do hope to emphasize

         17  today is that the City agencies have numerous

         18  opportunities to flag a young person for SIJS

         19  eligibility. The City is not taking advantage of

         20  these opportunities, but if we raise awareness among

         21  City service providers, and if ACS can develop

         22  methods of identifying young people at numerous

         23  stages of intervention, we can begin the process

         24  sooner and we can capture more eligible children.

         25                 If we succeed, more kids will be able
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          2  to go to college, work decent jobs, become citizens

          3  and vote, and we'll change their lives forever.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. SHAH: Good morning, Chairperson

          6  Stewart and members of the Immigration Committee.

          7                 My name is Ragini Shah, and I'm a

          8  Clinical Staff Attorney and Lecturer in Law at the

          9  Child Advocacy and Immigration Clinic at Columbia

         10  Law School. I want to thank the Committee for giving

         11  us the opportunity to discuss the important issues

         12  involving undocumented youth in New York City and I

         13  want to thank you for holding hearings on this

         14  important issue. For the past two years I have

         15  co-taught an immigration and child advocacy clinic

         16  at Columbia Law School where law students represent

         17  young people seeking special immigrant juvenile

         18  status, and in that time the clinic has represented

         19  15 clients who sought special immigrant juvenile

         20  status, 14 were in foster care and one was in a

         21  guardianship. Most of our clients are referred to us

         22  from organizations like The Door and Legal Aid

         23  Society.

         24                 As we discussed already, SIJS is a

         25  unique remedy. I just do want to point out to the
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          2  Council that this is a remedy that is only available

          3  in the United States. It's not a remedy available in

          4  other countries around the world, and my colleagues

          5  have already discussed many of the ways in which

          6  SIJS-eligible children are falling through the

          7  cracks in New York City.

          8                 What I actually wanted to draw the

          9  Council's attention to today is a couple of models

         10  that the Council may want to consider in order to

         11  move forward on concrete ways to improve

         12  identification of SIJS-eligible children. The two

         13  models I want to discuss are from Los Angeles and

         14  Chicago.

         15                 I do want to also say that, neither

         16  of those two cities has something like Executive

         17  Order 41. They have similar policies which prevent

         18  the police, for example, from asking someone's

         19  immigration status, when they report a crime, but

         20  they don't have something as extensive as Executive

         21  Order 41 which requires essentially that City

         22  workers do not ask about immigration status.

         23                 That said, I think that there are

         24  some things that this Council and ACS can draw from

         25  those two cities that would provide some meaningful
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          2  and concrete suggestions for improvement.

          3                 In Los Angeles, their equivalent of

          4  ACS is called the Department of Family and

          5  Children's Services, and within the Department of

          6  Children and Family Services, there is a unit, the

          7  Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit, which Council

          8  Member Mark-Viverito already referred to before.

          9                 All of the intake forms in the DCFS

         10  system require that a child place of birth be

         11  recorded, and they also require that the intake form

         12  record whether or not the child have a Social

         13  Security number.

         14                 Then there is a children's social

         15  work supervisor. Her name is Cecilia Sacko, and she

         16  is the head of this Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit.

         17  She looked at all of the data for children who are

         18  born outside of the US and compares that against

         19  children who have Social Security numbers or don't

         20  have social security numbers recorded, and then

         21  comes up with a list, essentially, of children who

         22  may be undocumented and may need to apply for

         23  special immigrant juvenile status.

         24                 Now, again, Los Angeles doesn't

         25  require that you don't ask for immigration status.
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          2  They actually do record what the immigration status

          3  of a child is under something called PRUCOL, Person

          4  Residing Under Color Of Law.

          5                 Now, Cecelia again also looks at the

          6  list of children who are people residing under a

          7  Color Of Law. This can include children who are

          8  citizens, legal permanent residents, asylees, or

          9  have other immigration statuses that essentially

         10  means that they will live in the US permanently, but

         11  they may not be lawful permanent residents yet.

         12                 So, any child who is not PRUCOL, or

         13  Residing Under Color Of Law, is assumed to probably

         14  be undocumented. So, again, all of these datasets

         15  are looked at, and then she comes up with a list of

         16  children that she needs to follow up on to see

         17  whether or not they are undocumented.

         18                 Once that's done, she follows up with

         19  case managers to find out more information about the

         20  child. Sometimes it's discovered that the child does

         21  have lawful status, often times it's discovered that

         22  they don't, and then at the point where it's

         23  determined -- and so that's actually flagged on the

         24  intake form, so much like my colleague, Myra Elgabry

         25  was saying before, you know, it's important to flag
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          2  children early on as being born outside the US at

          3  least, so that later in the process that can be

          4  followed up on to determine whether or not they need

          5  to apply for the Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

          6                 What they do in Los Angeles is they

          7  flag the issue, and then at the point where it's

          8  determined that the child is no longer going to be

          9  residing -- or no longer going to unify with the

         10  parent, they then apply for Special Immigrant

         11  Juvenile Status.

         12                 The City Agency themselves apply for

         13  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status. So they obtain

         14  the fees, the obtain the order from Family Court,

         15  they obtain the birth certificate, passport, all of

         16  the sorts of things that are needed, and then follow

         17  up with the process, including making sure the child

         18  attends a fingerprinting appointment, making sure

         19  they get their employment authorization, and making

         20  sure they attend the interview with the immigration

         21  service to obtain their Green Card.

         22                 So, and the one thing that the

         23  supervisor said that is very crucial is that all of

         24  these different methods had to be used in

         25  conjunction with each other, in order to ensure that
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          2  you were capturing all of the children that may be

          3  undocumented. Some undocumented children have Social

          4  Security numbers. Some undocumented children don't

          5  know that they're undocumented. They may have legal

          6  permanent resident parents, they may have other

          7  family members who have immigration status and they

          8  may not know themselves that they're undocumented.

          9                 So, it's important for all of these

         10  different variables to be used.

         11                 Now, in New York, again, since we

         12  don't actually ask children their immigration

         13  status, nor should we, I mean I don't think that we

         14  would advocate running afoul of Executive Order 41,

         15  but we do, we could ask where a child was born, and

         16  then follow up from there.

         17                 Similarly, in Chicago -- oh, the

         18  other thing I just did want to say about Los Angeles

         19  is that the unit in Los Angeles has nine staff

         20  people. There is, as I mentioned, the children

         21  Social Worker Supervisor, who is the person in

         22  charge, essentially, of tracking who is eligible for

         23  Special Immigrant Juvenile Status. Then there are

         24  eight people who follow up on this. There are four

         25  children social workers and four eligibility
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          2  workers, all eight of those people are in charge of

          3  all of the follow-up work, which I described before,

          4  you know, gathering all the documentation, make sure

          5  the child attends the important appointments, and

          6  making sure the child eventually gets a Green Card

          7  before they're discharged from foster care.

          8                 This also means that that unit can

          9  meet regularly with the United States citizenship

         10  and immigration services, who, you know, as you know

         11  are responsible for ensuring the child gets her

         12  Green Card, so that they have a very good

         13  relationship with their local USCIS office, which

         14  means that about 200 applications are actually

         15  processed every year in the Los Angeles district, as

         16  compared to about 30 to 40 in the New York district.

         17                 So, it is important for, you know, if

         18  an internal Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit could be

         19  developed in New York, I think not only would it be

         20  better at identifying undocumented youth and making

         21  sure the process goes forward effectively, but I

         22  think it could also improve things at USCIS, often

         23  the advocates, we do meet with USCIS pretty

         24  regularly, but often they can hear things a little

         25  bit easier from another agency than they can from
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          2  us. So it could improve things there as well.

          3                 Similarly in Chicago they also call

          4  their local ACS often the Department of Children and

          5  Family Services. They have a special immigrant unit

          6  within the City agency. It has its own separate

          7  budget.

          8                 I don't have as much information,

          9  unfortunately about that as I do about Los Angeles.

         10  Again, Chicago does not have anything prohibiting

         11  asking about immigration status, so they actually do

         12  ask young people what their immigration status upon

         13  entering care, and then again at different stages of

         14  being in care. So, after they've been in care for

         15  six months, after they've been in care for a year,

         16  and they refer young people for whom it's not clear

         17  what their immigration status before whom it's clear

         18  that they're undocumented to their internal unit,

         19  their Special Immigrant Unit.

         20                 And then the Special Immigrant Unit,

         21  again, like Los Angeles, picks up the application

         22  process and does all of the processing up to and

         23  including getting the Green Card.

         24                 The last thing I'll say is that for

         25  children who are in guardianships, which my
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          2  colleague Ghita Schwarz just talked about, many of

          3  these young people don't necessarily come into

          4  contact with ACS at some point, and Los Angeles also

          5  has a model for ensuring that those children are

          6  identified. This may be a little bit of a different

          7  issue than identifying children in foster care, but

          8  just so the Council is aware, the model that's used

          9  in Los Angeles to identify children who are in

         10  guardianships is that there is a non-profit

         11  organization that is available at the Family Court

         12  in Los Angeles, it's called Probate Court, when

         13  someone is applying for a legal guardianship.

         14                 They provide all kinds of assistance,

         15  but it includes finding out whether or not the young

         16  person may need to apply for immigration status. And

         17  if it's determined that that's true, that young

         18  person is referred to, in Los Angeles the

         19  organization is called "Public Counsel" to ensure

         20  that somebody is finding out what this young

         21  person's immigration status is, and if they need to

         22  apply for Special Immigrant Juvenile Status, that

         23  they do apply for Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

         24                 So that's the model that's used in

         25  Los Angeles and Chicago, and from those two models,
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          2  we would like to propose the following

          3  legislation/budget items to the City Council, the

          4  first item being to require that all Administration

          5  for Children's Services forms, including intake

          6  forms, service plan review forms in permanency

          7  hearings or reports, include the question where were

          8  you born? And if the answer is outside of the United

          9  States, that their instructions on the form itself

         10  that require the worker to refer that young person

         11  hopefully to what could be an internal special

         12  immigrant juvenile unit, if not, to refer that young

         13  person to, you know, any number of non-profit

         14  organizations that are represented here today who

         15  would be able to check and see what the immigration

         16  status of that young person is.

         17                 One thing I'll just note again is if

         18  an internal Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit were

         19  developed, all of the issues we've been talking

         20  about confidentiality would be avoided. Executive

         21  Order 41 has essentially been set up to ensure that

         22  someone is not asking you for immigration status,

         23  and then reporting you to the federal government,

         24  and it's set up to ensure that people don't feel

         25  like when they're coming to the City for services,
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          2  that, you know, something may, the immigration

          3  status may be used against them. But I think at the

          4  stage where a young person is eligible for Special

          5  Immigrant Juvenile Status, it's clear that that

          6  information is only going to be used to help the

          7  young person and not to, you know, somehow report

          8  them to the immigration service.

          9                 The second thing that we would

         10  propose is that a Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit be

         11  created within the Administration of Children's

         12  Services under the Director of Immigration Services

         13  Mark Lewis, must like the units described in Los

         14  Angeles and Chicago, with primary responsibility for

         15  obtaining lawful permanent residency for

         16  undocumented youth in foster care who are eligible

         17  for SIJS. We believe this would be consistent with

         18  the permanency planning requirements that are

         19  already an obligation of ACS.

         20                 As has been said several times, you

         21  know, these young people cannot get jobs, they

         22  cannot get financial aid for college, they cannot

         23  get public assistance without legal immigration

         24  status.

         25                 We believe that the Special Immigrant
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          2  Juvenile Unit would need at minimum two staff

          3  members, first an administrator whose duties are to

          4  ensure that identification is done properly, and

          5  that contract agency staff are also trained and able

          6  to do identification properly, that birth

          7  certificates are obtained, fees are obtained, the

          8  Family Court order is obtained, and all the other

          9  necessary documents are obtained.

         10                 And second, a paralegal or a legal

         11  worker who would be the primary person responsible

         12  for completing the immigration application, and

         13  submitting them to the immigration service, and then

         14  following up, you know, making sure the young person

         15  goes to their appointments, and eventually obtains

         16  their Green Card.

         17                 The third thing that we would ask

         18  City Council to consider is funding a non-profit

         19  organization whose sole purpose is to ensure that

         20  young people who are in legal guardianships would be

         21  identified as being eligible for Special Immigrant

         22  Juvenile Status, and that that, you know,

         23  eligibility would be followed up on with

         24  applications.

         25                 And one potential idea is that the
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          2  Department of Youth and Community Development funds,

          3  which are currently used to fund The Legal Aid

          4  Society, do applications for young people who are in

          5  foster care, and I would only say that we should do

          6  this if the Special Immigrant Juvenile Unit is

          7  created. Those funds could actually be used to them,

          8  instead of funding an agency outside of ACS to help

          9  young people apply for Special Immigrant Juvenile

         10  Status.

         11                 It could be used to help an agency

         12  apply for kids who are in guardianship situations,

         13  but only if ACS was already taking over

         14  responsibility for kids who are in foster care. That

         15  funding, again, would also have to, based on the LA

         16  model, which I think is a good model, because I

         17  think there are about similar numbers of children in

         18  foster care, and most likely similar numbers of

         19  undocumented children, although we don't have an

         20  exact number of those children here in New York. We

         21  think that probably the funding would need to cover

         22  two full-time staff people to ensure that all of the

         23  five boroughs were covered, and that, you know, two

         24  people would be enough, probably to train law

         25  students, volunteer law students, which is what's
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          2  also used in Los Angeles, to go help people apply

          3  for legal guardianships, and to identify whether or

          4  not young people need to apply for immigration

          5  status.

          6                 And then, finally, we would hope that

          7  the City Council may consider proposing to the State

          8  Legislature that all of the Family Courts and

          9  Surrogates Courts also ask a question where a child

         10  was born in the course of their regular proceedings.

         11  Again, not to ask immigration status, but rather to

         12  ask where the child was born and then to be able to

         13  from there order that the Administration for

         14  Children's Services, or whoever, whether if it's the

         15  legal guardian, or the ACS, then follow up and make

         16  sure that the child is getting the immigration

         17  services that they require.

         18                 Thank you, again, for your time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: May I ask a

         20  question?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You may, seeing

         22  that you did not before.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Ms. Schwarz,

         24  back to your testimony, your clients come to

         25  referrals from peers, social workers, and guidance
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          2  counselors, how is that connection made? Does your

          3  organization do the outreach?

          4                 MS. SCHWARZ: Our organization does

          5  some outreach on SIJS. But honestly, just sitting at

          6  our desks we have many more clients than we can

          7  handle, just on SIJS guardianship issues.

          8                 We happen to have found one young man

          9  from Bangladesh in a certain abandonment situation,

         10  who got a guardian and then a Green Card. He will

         11  come in and bring people that he has met in the

         12  course of his travels, this is a real example, in

         13  very terrible situations who were never identified

         14  by any City agency, and that's actually the way that

         15  most young people come to all the Door services, is

         16  through their friends and their neighbors.

         17                 For immigration services, we do also

         18  have a number of school guidance counselors and

         19  other school staff who call us about immigration

         20  questions. They want to refer a young person and we

         21  take them in and evaluate whether we can help them.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Has the Door

         23  ever received any calls from ACS?

         24                 MS. SCHWARZ: Yes, on occasion.  We

         25  work a lot with ACS to coordinate, for example,
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          2  young people who are destitute minors, who may not

          3  have had parental supervision in years, and once

          4  they come to our attention, we will work with Harry

          5  Gelb and Charlie Hollanger and other people at ACS

          6  to make sure they are taken into care, if they are

          7  eligible. Frequently we get referrals back to us on

          8  other immigration issues. In addition to SIJS we

          9  have a human trafficking project for young people.

         10  So there is quite a bit of coordination, and the

         11  individuals involved do a lot of work to make sure

         12  these young people are captured, without a sort of

         13  systemic way of looking at all the data, and all the

         14  field offices, and all of the neighborhoods where

         15  all these contacts are made with the young people,

         16  there is no way that ACS, the institution, can

         17  really make those referrals in a consistent way.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Right. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Now, I want to

         21  go back to some of the issues that you've raised,

         22  kids that might be with their grandparents, and

         23  their parents, their natural parents might not be

         24  around, or might be passed on, or whatever, but the

         25  grandparents might just have legal guardian. And I
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          2  want to know if there is an agency, or if this child

          3  is eligible for the SIJS program, grandparents might

          4  not be financially capable to file documents and all

          5  of those things. As a matter of fact, grandparents

          6  are not one of those that can file for a child, and

          7  even if they could have done so, 15, 20 years, by

          8  that time the child would have aged out.

          9                 What can we do for such people?

         10                 MS. SCHWARZ: You're addressing

         11  actually an enormous problem that we encounter in

         12  the guardianship cases. Assuming that that

         13  situation, there's underlying neglect, abuse,

         14  abandonment and possibility of reunifying with the

         15  parents, the grandparents could do a proceeding in

         16  Family Court to get legal guardianship, and have the

         17  Family Court Judge issue a special findings order

         18  that gives us the prerequisites for applying for

         19  SIJS.

         20                 Once that happens, in our practice we

         21  find that absolutely the hardest thing is trying to

         22  get the fees from the guardians, because ACS pays

         23  for those immigration fees. They're quite expensive.

         24  It's $765 just for the entire application, that's

         25  without the medical, and the guardians have to come
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          2  up with that.

          3                 Occasionally we have pro bono counsel

          4  that the firms will pay for that, but that's very,

          5  very rare, and so we do encounter a lot of

          6  difficulty waiting for the families to come up with

          7  the fees to pay for those applications.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: How many such

          9  children you think that will be, you think we will

         10  need that type of assistance, whether it's within

         11  the ACS or even just from legal guardian or kinship,

         12  whatever the program is, how many of those folks do

         13  you think will need legal assistance?

         14                 Because I'm looking to see what it

         15  will cost the City of New York at least per year

         16  that we can at least try to put some sort of a

         17  funding together within ACS or one of these agencies

         18  to deal with this issue.

         19                 I asked that question to ACS and they

         20  couldn't tell me. They say it's a small part of the

         21  budget, so it doesn't have a separate line. But I'm

         22  getting the impression that there's a number of

         23  children who may fit this bill, and just because the

         24  information is not out there, that they can get this

         25  type of service, it's not being utilized. So, I
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          2  would like to get an idea, ball park figure, as to

          3  how many children you think that, whatever category

          4  it is, that will need this type of service, so that

          5  at lease we can put a figure to it?

          6                 MS. SCHWARZ: I'm afraid I'm going to

          7  have to disappoint you, just like ACS did. From the

          8  Door's perspective, because we really only see young

          9  people who come in voluntarily who already may have

         10  some sense of immigration status, who already may

         11  have a friend or a neighbor, somebody who is

         12  assisting them and putting them on the right track,

         13  we don't think that we have a real representative

         14  sample of all the young people that may be out

         15  there.

         16                 There may be a possibility of our

         17  trying to get some numbers on how many guardianships

         18  there are and maybe taking a guess about how many

         19  might be SIJS eligible, but it would be really

         20  difficult for us to figure it out.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: How many do you

         22  see?

         23                 MS. SCHWARZ: Currently we have 50

         24  SIJS cases that are in process, most of which are

         25  guardianship cases. The majority of cases that we do
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          2  that we currently have clients for, those are

          3  guardianship cases at the moment, partly because

          4  Legal Aid and Lawyers For Children has taken on a

          5  lot of the work that has come through foster care.

          6                 MS. SHAH: If I just might add, it may

          7  be instructive to look at the numbers in Los

          8  Angeles, since they have been tracking the numbers a

          9  little more closely, and the numbers in Los Angeles

         10  are that about 200 applications for Special

         11  Immigrant Juvenile Status are both sent to the

         12  immigration service and processed each year. And add

         13  to that, Public Counsel estimates that they helped

         14  out 75 to 100 young people a year apply for Special

         15  Immigrant Juvenile Status in the guardianship

         16  situation, so it's approximately 300 a year that are

         17  being identified in Los Angeles again. I'm not sure

         18  that that would be similar in New York, but that

         19  might give us an indication of how many there could

         20  be.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I get a feel

         22  that if we have about 300, with about $800 per case,

         23  we're talking about, what's that? That's about

         24  $25,000?

         25                 MS. SCHWARZ: It's actually a little
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          2  bit more than 800 per case because the medical exam

          3  for immigration usually costs about --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, it's a small

          5  -- I think we have to look to see how many cases

          6  basically, and maybe we get -- we should have ACS

          7  having dedicated staff, maybe just like you

          8  mentioned in Chicago, you said that there is one

          9  supervisor and then you have five or six, eight

         10  people that work with that, dedicated for this

         11  process, and we form a budget whereby they will be

         12  paid from this budget, and also deal with the cases

         13  to pay the legal staff from the different agencies

         14  to help assist on this.

         15                 I think this is something that we can

         16  look into and we can move forward on that.

         17                 The other question I have basically

         18  is you spoke about requiring that ACS takes forms

         19  and permanency hearing reports and all of that, it

         20  means then we have to create a law for that that

         21  we're saying, right?

         22                 MS. SHAH: I'm actually not sure. I

         23  mean, I don't know. I think that that would be the

         24  clearest way of requiring that a line be created for

         25  place of birth.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, but the

          3  number of things that you spoke about, I'm trying to

          4  figure out what directive, or how we should go about

          5  that.

          6                 MS. SHAH: Yes. I mean, I think we

          7  would be fully supportive of a law that required ACS

          8  to create that line on all of those different forms.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And the protocol

         10  and things that they need to do to follow through,

         11  so that we don't leave any of these children behind.

         12                 The other thing, too, we maybe have

         13  to put a resolution together to call on the State

         14  that deals with Family Court and the Surrogate Court

         15  judges to be required to do these things that you

         16  mentioned.

         17                 MS. SHAH: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. I

         19  think we can talk about this. I can have our Counsel

         20  sit down with you to at least put these things

         21  together.

         22                 The other piece that you mentioned is

         23  the initiative. I think we will -- I have met with

         24  the couple of agencies already, community-based

         25  organizations, and we are talking about maybe doing
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          2  an initiative, right? I'm not too sure we would be

          3  able to get it in this fiscal year, but at least

          4  this is something that we can move on whereby there

          5  is an agency that is working on this issue to make

          6  sure that our children, or children that has this

          7  problem, are not left behind.

          8                 MS. SHAH: Yes, thank you, Chairman

          9  Stewart, that would be great.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any questions?

         11                 I want to thank you folks. I am sure

         12  we are going to be following up and trying to put

         13  something together to make sure that we have not

         14  only an initiative on this, but also the laws that

         15  we need to carry this forth.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 Our next?

         18                 MS. PAGAN-VENEGAS: Our last two

         19  witnesses will be Carmen Recalde and Ilze Earner.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you will

         21  please identify yourself and then we may begin.

         22                 DR. EARNER: My name is Ilza Earner.

         23                 MS. RECALDE: My name is Carmen

         24  Recalde, from Covenant House in New York.

         25                 DR. EARNER: Do you want me to begin
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          2  first? First of all, thank you for inviting the

          3  Immigrants and Child Welfare Project at the Hunter

          4  College School of Social Work to testify before the

          5  New York City Council Committee on Immigration on

          6  strategies to address the needs of immigrant

          7  children and youth who qualify for Special Immigrant

          8  Juvenile Status.

          9                 I'm Dr. Ilze Earner. I am an

         10  Assistant Professor at Hunter College. I am also the

         11  Director of the Immigrants and Child Welfare

         12  Project. I appreciate the willingness of this

         13  Committee to convene this important hearing to

         14  address the special needs of immigrant children and

         15  youth, under jurisdiction of Juvenile and Family

         16  Court.

         17                 Immigrant children and youth who are

         18  victims of abuse, neglect or abandonment represent

         19  one of the most vulnerable populations of children.

         20  Early identification of their immigration status and

         21  provision of legal assistance in immigration is a

         22  critical benefit that will help these children and

         23  youth successfully stabilize their lives and

         24  transition into adulthood.

         25                 The Immigrants and Child Welfare
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          2  Project was started in 1996 and seeks to address the

          3  serious problems faced by immigrant families,

          4  children and youth when they interface with the

          5  public child welfare system.

          6                 Since 2001, the Immigrants and Child

          7  Welfare Project have facilitated the development and

          8  the implementation of a training curriculum on

          9  immigrant issues with New York City Administration

         10  for Children's Services. We have co-sponsored with

         11  the Coalition for Asian-American Children and

         12  Families, a public hearing on immigrant families

         13  before the New York State Assembly Committee on

         14  Children and Families and the Assembly Legislative

         15  Task Force on New Americans.

         16                 We've also played a leading role in

         17  organizing the advisory group on immigrant issues

         18  that now regularly meets with ACS and helped in

         19  developing a handbook on immigrant and language

         20  issues available to child welfare staff.

         21                 I've also done research and written

         22  on issues affecting immigrants and child welfare,

         23  most recently as the guest editor of the Journal of

         24  Child Welfare dedicated to immigrant and refugee

         25  families, published by the Child Welfare League of
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          2  America.

          3                 I am also a member of the National

          4  Child Welfare Advisory Board convened by the U.S.

          5  Conference of Catholic Bishops and the Lutheran

          6  Immigration and Refugee Services, and I regularly

          7  consult with organizations and State Child Welfare

          8  systems across the country.

          9                 In New York City I also provide

         10  training to foster care services providers on

         11  permanency planning for immigrant youth in care,

         12  with the Independent Living Resource Center.

         13                 These experiences combined have

         14  placed me in a unique position to observe the

         15  problems that confront immigrant children and youth

         16  and care, and it is what brings me here today to

         17  share their case examples and discuss strategies

         18  that can be implemented to address their special

         19  needs.

         20                 The special needs presented by

         21  immigrant families, children and youth, when they

         22  come into contact with the child welfare system are

         23  many.

         24                 And yet, little is known about how or

         25  why immigrant children and youth come to the
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          2  attention of child welfare, or for that matter, even

          3  of the numbers of children and youth involved.

          4  Anecdotal evidence does suggest that their numbers

          5  are increasing, especially in the long-term foster

          6  care population.

          7                 Immigrant children and youth who have

          8  suffered abuse, neglect or abandonment, suffer the

          9  same emotional and physical consequences, but they

         10  also experience additional insecurities.

         11                 Without lawful status, immigrant

         12  children and youth cannot obtain a Social Security

         13  number or a permit, apply for a driver's license,

         14  open a bank account, and once they turn 18 years of

         15  age, they cannot obtain health insurance and legally

         16  obtain travel documents, establish credit or receive

         17  financial assistance for college, and they also face

         18  the constant threat of deportation.

         19                 This clearly does not constitute a

         20  permanency plan for independent living as envisioned

         21  by the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997.

         22                 I'm not going to go over the criteria

         23  for SIJS, since that has been adequately covered. I

         24  will, however, reiterate the fact that SIJS

         25  proceedings must be initiated by child welfare
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          2  workers, and it is critical that they initiate these

          3  early in their contact with children that come under

          4  their jurisdiction, as delaying the process and

          5  establishing immigration status and delays in filing

          6  applications can have serious consequences in the

          7  ability of immigration children and youth to obtain

          8  the immigration relief that they have before them,

          9  perhaps their only opportunity to stabilize and

         10  legalize their immigration status.

         11                 I will go on to page six and discuss

         12  the state of current services, as they are provided,

         13  particularly focusing on training.

         14                 While the New York City

         15  Administration for Children's Services has made many

         16  admirable strides in recent years to address the

         17  special needs of immigrant families, children and

         18  youth, much work remains to be done, especially in

         19  training and access to legal assistance with

         20  immigration issues.

         21                 Presently there is no apparent or

         22  consistent mechanism in place to train child welfare

         23  workers on SIJS, especially those involved with

         24  children in foster care, for early identification of

         25  immigration status and prompt referral for legal
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          2  assistance.

          3                 This oversight is especially

          4  egregious, given the relative simplicity of a SIJS

          5  application and serious lifelong consequences in

          6  failing to help an immigrant child obtain legal

          7  residency.

          8                 In my work through the Independent

          9  Living Resource Center, I'm struck by how many

         10  foster care service providers with whom I come into

         11  contact with, have no prior on-the-job training or

         12  access to agency expertise on the impact of

         13  immigration status on the clients.

         14                 Many do not know how to identify

         15  immigration status, what questions to ask, what

         16  documents to obtain. Few know of the existence of

         17  SIJS immigration relief, and I regularly hear

         18  concerns such as these for foster care workers, and

         19  I will give you examples. Most recently this was the

         20  training that I did in January.

         21                 One worker said to me, I have a kid

         22  on my caseload, the parents I think are Czech. This

         23  kid is definitely not going back to his parents. He

         24  says he was born outside of the United States but I

         25  don't have any papers and my supervisor has no idea
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          2  how we can get a birth certificate to apply for a

          3  Social Security Card.

          4                 Another one told me, recently an

          5  18-year-old who was discharged from care came back

          6  to us and asked us how he could get a Social

          7  Security Card. It was only after I helped him apply

          8  for one that we realized he was not eligible because

          9  he was born in Nigeria and his parents were illegal

         10  and so was he. It was so sad because now he cannot

         11  get a job.

         12                 This training is the first time I

         13  have ever heard of SIJS in the two years that I have

         14  worked at agency X. And now I am thinking about the

         15  kids I've had on my caseload and how many of them I

         16  might have missed.

         17                 The Adoption and Safe Families Act of

         18  1997 mandates that a permanency plan be in place for

         19  every child in care within 12 months.

         20                 While ASFA does not specify or

         21  address concerns regarding immigration status, it

         22  only makes common sense to address this issue with

         23  foreign-born children who come under jurisdiction of

         24  the State. Legal assistance with immigration issues

         25  must be part of the permanency planning process for
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          2  these children.

          3                 And I have a list of recommendations

          4  that I'd like to share with you, but I need some

          5  water first. Thank you.

          6                 The Child Welfare System needs to be

          7  more sensitive to the special needs of immigrant

          8  children and youth who become involved with

          9  services.

         10                 Immigrant children and youth may be

         11  able to legalize their immigration status while in

         12  care and should be referred to specialized legal

         13  services as quickly as possible.

         14                 Child welfare workers need to become

         15  aware of how immigration status affects individuals'

         16  ability to function, especially once they leave care

         17  and they should have knowledge of common immigration

         18  statuses and their impact on permanency planning.

         19                 Agencies can ensure that workers are

         20  trained to engage in early identification of

         21  immigration status-related needs of children and

         22  youth, and when appropriate, to make referrals to

         23  legal assistance.

         24                 And we'll go through, I have six

         25  recommendations and I think some of them are
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          2  repetitive but I think that there certainly is a

          3  tipping point in terms of some of these

          4  recommendations.

          5                 The first recommendation I have is

          6  that we need to train all child welfare workers,

          7  including the contract services providers, on early

          8  identification of immigration status of foreign-born

          9  children that come into care with referral to legal

         10  assistance for immigration issues.

         11                 I know that ACS testified regarding

         12  the training of workers. The training is not

         13  mandatory for child welfare workers. It is a

         14  training that is what they call phase II training,

         15  which is essentially front-line workers want to take

         16  that training in order to for job promotion and

         17  enhancement of their salaries. So, it's not

         18  mandatory.

         19                 And in terms of the trainings

         20  overall, I am actually the person that has

         21  implemented those trainings over the last three

         22  years, it's also sad to say that the trainings have

         23  been cut back year-after-year. We started off with

         24  15, we went to 12 and this year we had eight.

         25                 ACS also -- I would also recommend
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          2  that trainings be mandated to all guardians ad

          3  litum, CASAs, ACS attorneys and foster care service

          4  providers on SIJS.

          5                 ACS must also take more active

          6  interest in the training offered by contract service

          7  providers to their employees. Renewal of contracts

          8  should include accountability for training

          9  employees. It's rather a simple process. Contracts

         10  come up for renewal, ensure that your employees have

         11  been regularly trained. And it's also important to

         12  note that there is a very high turnover in

         13  front-line staff so that this training should be

         14  offered on a regular basis and it should be part of

         15  on-the-job training before anyone goes out into the

         16  field.

         17                 Juvenile and Family Court judges must

         18  receive training and immigration status in SIJS so

         19  that they also understand the importance of

         20  immigration relief and permanency planning.

         21                 ACS and USCIS could also meet

         22  regularly to discuss mutual concerns and facilitate

         23  a working relationship in order to process SIJS

         24  applications in a more timely manner.

         25                 And, finally, ACS could also
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          2  establish memorandums of understanding with foreign

          3  consulates to facilitate the process for obtaining

          4  foreign documents, such as birth certificates,

          5  baptismal records and other proof of identity.

          6                 Thank you very much for your time.

          7                 MS. RECALDE: Thank you, Chairman

          8  Stewart, and members of the Immigration Committee

          9  for this opportunity to speak on behalf of the

         10  undocumented youth.

         11                 My name is Carmen Recalde, and I'm a

         12  staff attorney at Covenant House New York. Covenant

         13  House is New York City's largest non-profit

         14  adolescent care agency serving youth that are

         15  homeless, runaway, or at risk of becoming homeless.

         16  Our crisis center is open 24 hours a day, 365 days a

         17  year.

         18                 Last year we served 5,567 primarily

         19  between the ages of 16 and 21, through our crisis

         20  center, transitional living and community-based

         21  programs.

         22                 I am here today to speak about the

         23  issue of undocumented immigrant youth who are close

         24  to reaching their 18th birthday and who could

         25  qualify for Administration for Children's Services
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          2  placement but are denied because they are almost 18

          3  years old.

          4                 The majority of children who I

          5  interview, the minors unit at Covenant House, are

          6  young people who are present in the United States

          7  without documentation. For some, family

          8  reunification in the United States or anywhere else

          9  is not an option.

         10                 When I refer them to ACS, I have made

         11  an assessment based on the facts of the case, that

         12  at the very minimum they need an investigation.

         13                 You've heard this over and over

         14  again, so I'm sorry if I repeat myself. Once it is

         15  determined that the child is abused, abandoned or

         16  neglected, the child should be placed immediately.

         17  Moreover, Social Service Law Section 371(3) provides

         18  that the State has an obligation to care for

         19  destitute minors; therefore, minors whose only place

         20  to live is a homeless shelter are eligible for

         21  foster care even in the absence of definite abuse,

         22  neglect or abandonment.

         23                 Some of the youth referred to me are

         24  very close to turning 18. It is especially, as

         25  you've all heard from the different testimonies,
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          2  that they be referred to ACS very quickly.

          3                 There is a growing resistance,

          4  however, in placing young people at this age, even

          5  though there's been an acknowledgment of abuse,

          6  neglect or abandonment.

          7                 Some youth referred to ACS have been

          8  told, do not worry, you are almost 18. Once you are

          9  18 you can always go to Covenant House. They'll take

         10  care of you. Or they are told that it is too

         11  expensive to place them, or it's all about the

         12  money, or that there is not enough time to place

         13  them.

         14                 I help them to the best of my

         15  ability, even though they do not have status and I

         16  realize that they're already 18, and they're either

         17  destitute, abused or abandoned, so I try to do the

         18  best I can in helping them with the services that we

         19  have.

         20                 I help them with documents, perhaps

         21  getting birth certificates, which they should have

         22  already gotten, passports, things of that nature.

         23                 Failure to place qualified youth,

         24  undocumented youth in ACS before they're 18 means

         25  ripping their only means to legal status, which in
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          2  turn translate to unemployed adults, homeless

          3  adults, and impoverished adults.

          4                 And as we all know, it was the

          5  legislative intent of the United States Congress

          6  when they passed the law in 1990 to grant

          7  undocumented youth the right to petition for special

          8  immigrant juvenile status.

          9                 An ACS caseworker plays a major role,

         10  not only in identifying the youth, as my colleague

         11  Myra has mentioned, but also in providing the

         12  services, when reunification is not an option, and

         13  in fulfilling their legal obligation to ensure that

         14  a child would be a functioning member of society.

         15  Doing their best so that the client does not lose

         16  his or her right to an immigration benefit is that

         17  function.

         18                 Even if the ACS worker decides to

         19  investigate the case where youth is close to turning

         20  18, there is procrastination.

         21                 I have had cases where I've had to

         22  call numerous times beyond the norm to make sure the

         23  child is placed before their 18th birthday.

         24                 It is important that the caseworker

         25  understands the pivotal role in making sure that the
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          2  person is placed so that they will have their

          3  documentation.

          4                 Furthermore, youth who are placed in

          5  foster care end up at Covenant House. I have

          6  interviewed youth who are deemed eligible for foster

          7  care, deemed to abandon, abuse or neglect, or

          8  perhaps a destitute child, and they show up in my

          9  office wondering how they can get a Social Security

         10  number, or how they can get employment.

         11                 Those cases are very disappointing.

         12  Again, I try to do the best that I can with the

         13  services that we do have.

         14                 They were never told while they were

         15  in placement that SIJS was an option. Some clients

         16  claim that they have been encouraged by ACS workers

         17  to sign themselves out of foster care because they

         18  can come to Covenant House. But as you know,

         19  Covenant House is a temporary shelter. We do have

         20  the rights of passage, but the residents at the

         21  right of passage have to seek employment or have

         22  employment.

         23                 Some ACS workers have been helpful

         24  with our Special Immigrant Juvenile Status cases.

         25  Some understand the consequences of not obtaining
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          2  documentation, while the majority need more

          3  training. And that is my proposal, is to have more

          4  training, because I see every day when I go to work

          5  the consequences of not having the documentation.

          6                 They need to learn about Special

          7  Immigrant Juvenile Status cases and need to

          8  understand their role.

          9                 Like my clients, thousands of other

         10  young people in New York City learn that they are

         11  undocumented when they are trying to find a job.

         12  Tragically, many of these young people discover

         13  their unlawful status only when they find themselves

         14  alone, on the streets and looking -- work to support

         15  themselves, after they have been pushed out of their

         16  home, based on different issues, or foster care.

         17                 Many of these young adolescents have

         18  lived in the United States since they were very

         19  small, like three years old, two years old, perhaps

         20  even ten, but they don't even know that they're

         21  undocumented.

         22                 Unless someone identifies these

         23  youth, as has been mentioned by our panel, they will

         24  be discharged just to find themselves homeless.

         25                 Yet, some who are qualified and close
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          2  to 18 are never placed. Instead, they are introduced

          3  to an unsustainable life of illegal off-the-books

          4  work or never getting an education, and some of

          5  these, the kids that I see, are very bright.

          6  Extremely bright, and with a lot of potential.

          7                 Even if only one youth is affected by

          8  our presentation today, it is one more young person

          9  whose possibility in finding a permanent home,

         10  gainful employment, and achieving an education is

         11  more promising.

         12                 I'm happy to speak on behalf of the

         13  undocumented youth, and thank you so much for

         14  letting us speak here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I notice we have

         16  been joined by Council Member Weprin and Council

         17  Member Mealy.

         18                 I have a question. How many of these

         19  young people who are turning 18, how many are being

         20  turned away by ACS because they're going to be

         21  turning 18?

         22                 MS. RECALDE: I've seen about 11 a

         23  year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Eleven people?

         25                 MS. RECALDE: I've seen about 11, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And --

          3                 MS. RECALDE: I'm the only attorney

          4  there at Covenant House doing immigration law, so I

          5  can't take a lot of cases. I have to refer them

          6  sometimes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, in

          8  actuality, you're saying we have a bigger problem

          9  than we thought. In other words, we will deal with

         10  the younger ones, but the older ones, we just turn

         11  them away, or we try to force them out of the

         12  system?

         13                 MS. RECALDE: Well, some of them are

         14  not placed but maybe should be placed. It seems as

         15  if they have qualified cases. And some of them have

         16  given reasons as to maybe it's too expensive, or

         17  mainly it's too expensive, or there isn't enough

         18  time, and indeed there is enough time, because I

         19  know that I placed a case maybe within a week, one

         20  case. I was successful at that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And what you're

         22  saying is that they're playing with time. So, if

         23  someone delayed a case, or delayed the

         24  investigation, or delayed things so that the child

         25  will age out; that's what you're saying?
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          2                 MS. RECALDE: Yes, I am.

          3                 And one more point I'd like to make

          4  is that, even if they do place them, sometimes they

          5  go -- some of the clients don't have anything to do.

          6  They don't have an education, they're not placed in

          7  educational facilities, and they just go crazy.

          8  Because you know, they're really eager to take

          9  advantage of all their resources. A lot of them

         10  can't speak the language, and some of them speak

         11  indigenous languages, so they can't really speak

         12  Spanish that well either.

         13                 But mostly it's Spanish-speaking

         14  clients who, they somehow don't place them in

         15  educational system, and, therefore, they go crazy,

         16  they go AWOL and then I have to track them down.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. What

         18  is your suggestion that we do in such case, to at

         19  least to force ACS to at least place these cases, or

         20  expedite these --

         21                 MS. RECALDE: Perhaps camp out at the

         22  Children's Services until they place them. One of

         23  our advocates did.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You camped out?

         25                 MS. RECALDE: She's not there anymore.
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          2  Yes. Well, I think I'm going to actually do that.

          3                 And what I do is I call everyone. I

          4  tell them I'm going to call the Commissioner. There

          5  was one child that I saw. He was almost 18. He had

          6  whip marks in his back and they were saying he

          7  wasn't abused. And I just called, I say I'm going to

          8  call the Commissioner, and I just took action. I

          9  just made phone calls before there was Francis

         10  Sanchez, and there's also another woman, I can't

         11  recall the name right now, that I call. I just call

         12  the officers. And there was another woman who worked

         13  in the office, Mark Lewis's office before who I used

         14  to call, and make sure that -- but you have to

         15  really spend a lot of time in that particular case,

         16  when you shouldn't have to spend so much time in

         17  something that they should be placed, it's clear.

         18                 And we have a liaison officer, ACS,

         19  that also believe they should be placed, but they

         20  still won't place them.

         21                 And sometimes I've gone to interviews

         22  with the clients and met the parents that they say

         23  are not abusive, and it's sort of -- well, I'm

         24  getting off the topic.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Dr. Earner?
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          2                 DR. EARNER: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Are you willing

          4  to sit with my counsel to at least iron out some of

          5  these things that you're recommending here, so that

          6  at least we may be able to put some legislation

          7  together to mandate that ACS train their front-line

          8  workers?

          9                 DR. EARNER: If I may, not only train

         10  front-line workers, but also supervisors and program

         11  managers who are actually in the position to

         12  implement policies and protocols. Because without

         13  training those, what's the use of training

         14  front-line workers?

         15                 What they regularly tell me is you

         16  can tell me what you want, my supervisor makes the

         17  decision.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. So,

         19  you're willing to sit with my counsel, so at least

         20  we can have one head, in terms of determining what

         21  we go -- how we go forward with this.

         22                 One of the things I wanted to explore

         23  before, and I have the Finance Chair is here, ACS

         24  does not have a line to deal with this issue, and it

         25  appears to me that this is going to need some of
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          2  dedicated funds to deal with not only the legal

          3  aspect, but also to make sure that people are

          4  trained and all of that. Even the folks that are not

          5  with ACS. The folks that are doing contracts with

          6  ACS.

          7                 MS. EARNER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.

          9                 Any questions?

         10                 I would like to thank you for your

         11  great help --

         12                 MS. RECALDE: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:-- In exploring

         14  this issue. And I'm sure by the next couple of

         15  months, we will have something to at least report to

         16  make sure that this issue is not left behind and

         17  left up by chance.

         18                 Once again, I want to thank you, and

         19  we'll be reaching out to you.

         20                 DR. EARNER: Thank you very much.

         21                 MS. CARMEN: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And with that,

         23  this meeting is adjourned.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:55 p.m.)
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